
Southern Mallee District Council 

Page 1 of 62 

  

Southern Mallee District Council 
 

Annual 
 

Report 
 

2017-2018 
 
 

Inspire   Engage   Connect 



Southern Mallee District Council 

Page 2 of 62 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SOUTHERN MALLEE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

Day Street 
 

PO Box 49 
 

PINNAROO  SA 5304 
 

e council@southernmallee.sa.gov.au  

t 08 8577 8002 

f 08 8577 8443 
  

www.southernmallee.sa.gov.au

mailto:council@southernmallee.sa.gov.au
http://www.southernmallee.sa.gov.au/


Southern Mallee District Council 

Page 3 of 62 

NGARKAT 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
 

Southern Mallee District Council acknowledges the Ngarkat people as the traditional owners 

of the land on which we meet and work. We respect and acknowledge their culture and we 

pay our respects to all Aboriginal elders past, present and emerging.  
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MAYOR’S 
MESSAGE 
 
A report from Mayor Andrew Grieger has not been included in the Annual Report due to 
the Local Government election period 
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CEO’S  

MESSAGE 
 
The past year was a busy and productive one for Southern Mallee District Council.  
Council has focused its efforts on achieving the strategies in its Strategic Management 
Plan whilst also delivering sound financial management and organisational efficiencies.  
 
Council has continued to work towards its vision of a place where people aspire to 
recreate, do business and live well. 
 
This document represents the Annual Report of Southern Mallee District Council for 
the period 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018. The report details the achievements of Council 
against its strategic objectives and incorporates the audited financial statements of the 
organisation. 
 
The document also includes the annual reports from our subsidiary organisations the 
Murraylands and Riverland Local Government Association and Murray Mallee 
Community Transport Scheme. 
 
The staff of Southern Mallee District Council have continued to work hard for the 
community. They are passionate and skilled and provide a diverse range of services 
that are highly valued by the community from childcare services, customer service, 
community buildings and pools to road works, parks and gardens, and waste 
management.  
 
In addition to ongoing provision of services Council delivered a range of capital projects 
including the full reconstruction of a significant section of Tauragat Well Road and 
upgrades to a number of community buildings. 
 
Council continued to support community groups during 2017/18 with its generous 
$50,000 community grants program. This led to a range of great community projects 
across the district.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Jason Taylor 
Chief Executive Officer 
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Elected Members  
 

 
 

          
 

     MAYOR        DEPUTY MAYOR                  CR ALLAN DUNSFORD 

CR ANDREW GRIEGER    CR NEVILLE PFEIFFER    
 

        
 

CR DENNIS HYDE      CR STACEY MILDE CR KEVIN O’DRISCOLL

  
 

 
 

CR BRUCE SUMMERTON  CR BRIAN TOOGOOD           CR MARK WHITE 
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Corporate Services 

 
Work Health and Safety 
Council is committed to maintaining and improving the health and wellbeing of its 
workforce. 
 
Health and Wellbeing 
As part of this commitment, Council participated in the Local Government Association 
Workers’ Compensation Scheme’s (LGAWCS) Healthy Lifestyle programs which 
continues to provide screenings and preventative programs. 
Information sessions are also made available to employees on a continuing basis. 
 
o Healthy Lifestyle Program Health Assessments including: 

 Cholesterol Analysis 
 Nutrition Profile 
 Stress Profile 
 Cardiac Risk Rating 
 Fitness Assessment 
 Back Care 
 Blood Pressure 
 

o Skin cancer screenings 
o Mind your ‘Wellbeing’ program 
o Flu Vaccinations 

 
There has been further progress in the activities and resources to maximize worker safety 
and wellbeing and maintain legal compliance by delivering: 

 First aid training 

 Fire training including extinguisher use & Fire Safety  

 Manual handling training 

 Regular testing & tagging of electrical equipment 

 Regular testing & servicing of fire extinguishers 

 Regular First Aid kit (stock) Inspections 
 
  

Evaluations (Risk Management / Work Health and Safety / Injury Management) 

Council was subject to a Risk evaluation process in November 2017. This process 
encompasses the LGAMLS Risk Review and LGAWCS key performance Indicator (KPI) 
Audit into the one process. It is an obligation of being self-insured for workers 

compensation to meet the requirements of the Performance Standards for Self-Insurers 
(PSSI). The process is onsite and takes place over two days.   This evaluation is now 
conducted with councils every 2 years.  

 

From these evaluations in 2017, Key Performance Indicator (KPI) Action Plans including 
a monitoring and reporting schedule was formed to make sure any gaps were being 
monitored and closed out. From the identified actions WHS had a 91% closeout rate and 
Risk Management had a 100% closeout rate.  
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Corporate Services 

 

Internal Procedure Validation  

Council volunteered to participate in the internal procedure validation. This validation was 
undertaken as part of the LGAWCS centralised procedure validation process. By council 
volunteering for this meant that council will not be randomly selected during the next three 
years. 

 

The focus of this validation was on the hazard management procedure. The procedure 
validation involved testing 19 defined criteria from Councils hazard management 
procedure. This took place over two day’s onsite with input from council staff and 
managers in July 2018. 

 

The reported outcomes from this validation is been worked through and incorporated in 
council’s plans and programs for continued improvement.  

 

WHS and Return to Work 

Continuous improvement underpin Council’s approach to its activities. The Work Health 
Safety and Return to Work Plan ensures Council can identify key deficiency areas and 
measure the success of systematic targets designed to improve performance. 

Key areas of focus for 2017-18 were: 

 Skytrust – Further system development, training and implementation including: 
 automation for reporting incidents and hazards 
 automation of reviews for policies and procedures 
 online inductions for contractors 
 automation of the corrective actions register 
 automation for workplace inspections 

 
 Hazard Management       
 WHS KPI Action Plan   
 WHS and IM Plan Implementation 

 
 

Risk Management 

As an outcome of the Risk Evaluations undertaken in late 2017, Southern Mallee 
District Council recognised the need to review its risk management systems, including 
the review and update of the risk management policy and framework. 

Council recognised the value to operationalise its risk framework by undertaking a 
review and update of the existing strategic risk register and commence the 
development of an operational risk register in order to manage and monitor key risks. 
Council also commenced a review its monitoring and reporting mechanisms and 
starting planning for training to key staff and elected members about strategic risks after 
the election process is finalised.  

Council partnered with the Mutual Liability Scheme and their Strategic Risk Consulting 
Team in a collaborative project with the District Council of Karoonda East Murray to 
evolve the Councils risk system to a point where the expectations of the respective Audit 
Committee’s and Senior Management Team can be met. 
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Corporate Services 

 
Treasury Report 
 
Overall the financial result of the Council has been pleasing.   
 
 
Borrowings 
 
Council has paid its loans as and when payments fell due and this has seen the closing 
balance of loans [both current and non-current] decrease from $1,981,301 in 2017 to 
$1,682,893 in 2018. 
 

Borrowings 30 June 2017 30 June 2018 

Council Loans 1,981,301 1,682,893 

 
 
Revenue 
 
The rates revenue has increased by $94,680 when compared with 2017.  Council rates 
is the major revenue stream for the Council making 51% of total revenue. 
 

 30 June 2017 30 June 2018 

Rates 3,805,915 3,900,595 

Total revenue  8,455,005 7,660,906 

 
 
The decrease in overall revenue was due to a decrease in Grants Subsidies and 
contributions of $867,934. 
 
 

 30 June 2017 30 June 2018 

Grants Subsidies and 
Contributions 

3,761,936 2,894,002 

 
 
This was largely impacted by the $865,667 received in 16/17 to assist with the Geranium 
South Road which is completed. 
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Corporate Services 

 
Treasury Report 
 
 
 
Expenses 
 
Employee costs have decreased since 2017 mainly as a result in the delay in replacing 
staff vacancies. 
 
 

 30 June 2017 30 June 2018 

Employee Costs 2,342,241 2,319,948 
 
 

Depreciation incurred a slight increase of $127,304 following the revaluation of 
community wastewater management system, buildings and other structures in 2017. 
 
 

 30 June 2017 30 June 2018 

Depreciation, 
amortisation & 
impairment 

2,411,123 2,538,427 

 
 

Materials, Contracts & Other Expenses increased by $143,195 this was largely due to 
an increase in maintenance works. 
 
 

 30 June 2017 30 June 2018 

Materials, Contracts & 
Other Expenses 

1,890,552 2,033,747 
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Corporate Services 

 

Library Services       
 
The Council currently supports three Libraries. 
There are two community libraries in the towns of  
Pinnaroo and Lameroo and a depot at Geranium  
which is part of the Lameroo community library.   
 
 
The total number of loans throughout the libraries  
amounted to 25,239. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Library Population 
Physical 

loans 
eBook loans 

eAudiobook 

loans 

eMagazine 

loans 
Total Loans 

Lameroo & 

Geranium 
1,090 13,956 565 293 64 14,878 

Pinnaroo 

 
966 9,790 340 32 199 10,361 

 
 
 
 
 

Library Structure 
 

The staffing function for the Geranium site in recent years has been taken over by 
Department of Education and the Lameroo Regional Community School. 
 
Council continue to support the operation of libraries through the allocation of grant 
funding of $11,000.00 to each site.  The allocation is over and above the required amount, 
as specified by the libraries board, for Councils to contribute to libraries as per the existing 
10 year Memorandum of Agreement (MOU) between the Minister for the Arts and the 
President of the Local Government Association. 
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Corporate Services 

 
Library Services     

 
 

Library 
Total 

Members 

Members 

0-19 

Members 

20-69 

Members 

70-85 & over 

Members 

Age Unknown 

Lameroo & 

Geranium 
713 281 358 58 16 

Pinnaroo 

 
499 142 312 35 10 

 
 
 
Libraries Forward Plan 
 
Following the Services Delivery Review in 2015/2016 the Library Strategy Group 
including representatives from the Lameroo Regional Community School, Pinnaroo 
Primary School, Geranium Primary School, Libraries of SA and the Council established 
the Libraries Forward Plan. The key strategies from the plan included – sustainable 
structures and systems, equitable and cost effective services, engaging the community, 
better access to new technologies and economic development. 
 
In 2017/2018 the Libraries Management Board comprising of the three school principals, 
library staff and a council representative continued to meet and work together to 
implement actions from the agreed plan and review services. 
 

  

 

http://www.google.com.au/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjU-fuTxNbeAhWvgUsFHVUED3IQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=http://culture.affinitymagazine.us/nine-book-recommendations-for-lgbt-teens/&psig=AOvVaw1q829djb3zbiNUzDeo108q&ust=1542375229395411


Southern Mallee District Council 

Page 14 of 62 

s 

Corporate Services 

 
STARClub – Excellence in Cross Council Collaboration 

 
In 2017/2018 Council committed to the funding and re-signing of the Murraylands 
STARclub Field Officer Program Memorandum of Understanding 2018-2021 by the five 
Murraylands Councils - in partnership with the State Government’s Office for Recreation, 
Sport and Racing (ORSR).  
 
The Integrated Murraylands Physical Activity Committee (IMPAC) provides direction for 
the STARclub Program, and membership includes key leaders from each of the five 
funding councils (Rural City of Murray Bridge, Coorong District Council, Mid Murray 
Council, District Council of Karoonda East Murray and the Southern Mallee District 
Council). 
 
STARclub focuses on growing and sustaining strong sport and recreation clubs, where 
quality coaches and officials work alongside valued volunteers in a safe and welcoming 
environment. 
 
The successful hosting of the best STARclub in South Australia enabled council to jointly 
win an award for the Murraylands STARclub. The work of Marc Maddaford across the 
five Councils he covers, won clear praise from the judges for the difference he makes 
every day across our region in helping clubs run better and attracting funding to deliver 
on community aspirations. 
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Corporate Services 

  
Permits 

 
There were 153 permits approved to a range of 
organisations and individuals in the past 12 months for 
a range of community activities. This is an increase 
over the last year where the total permits approved was 
132.  
 
Key events for the year included;  

 

 Pinnaroo Football & Netball Clubs – Cocktail/Auction Fundraiser 

 DanceSA Performance GLOW – Lameroo Hall 

 Legacy Badge Day 

 Mallee Netball Association Presentation – Lameroo Hall 

 National Broadband Network Company – various venues 

 Invisible Farmer – Pinnaroo Hall 

 Country Arts Performances – Lameroo Hall 

 Pinkerton Palm Hamlyn & Steel P/L – Livestock Sale 

 Mallee Community Health – Pink Ribbon Breakfast Lameroo 

 Lameroo Hospital Auxiliary – Hospital Fete – Lameroo lawns 

 Pinnaroo Show 

 Breastscreen SA Mobile Screening Unit 

 Country SA Primary Health Network – My Health Record Forum 

 Viterra Operations – Harvest Medicals 

 Lameroo Lions – Lunch Stop 

 Annual VacSwim at both the Lameroo and Pinnaroo Swimming Pools 

 Pinnaroo and Lameroo Christmas Parades 

 Australia Day Celebrations 

 Pinnaroo Carols in the Wetlands 

 Royal Flying Doctors – State Wide Badge Day 

 DanceSA Classes – Pinnaroo Institute 

 Lameroo Country Music Festival – Lameroo Memorial Hall 

 ANZAC Day services in Pinnaroo and Lameroo 

 Red Cross Door Knock – across the Southern Mallee District 

 Dressed 4 Success – Parilla Memorial Hall 

 Parilla Market Days – Parilla Parklands 

 Mallee Scouts – Parilla Memorial Hall  

 Bush Kindy – Pinnaroo – Parr Scrub 

 Paddock Pizza – Lake Roberts 

 Dirtbike Track permits 

 Pinnaroo School Performance – Pinnaroo Hall 

 Various Stalls, Swimming Activities, Funerals, Fundraisers, Accountants 
visits, School Performances and Presentations held across the District 
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Corporate Services  

 
Internal Controls 
 
In May 2018 Dean Newbery & Partners conducted a mid-term audit of the Council’s 
Internal Controls and the resulting External Audit Management Report was forwarded to 
the Council to implement.   
 
The audit team made 19 recommendations to Council and the site visit was a valuable 
one for several new staff members to participate in and be made aware of various key 
risks to Council.  The risk rating of the activities highlighted are as follows: 
 
 

Activities 
2017 

Residual Risk 
Rating 

Activities 
2018 

Residual Risk 
Rating 

2 High 6 High 

6 Moderate 9 Moderate 

1 Low 4 Low 

9 Total 19 Total 

 
 
Council is committed to continuous improvement and upon receipt of the External Audit 
Management Report the Corporate Services team met to review the comments and 
recommendations.  As part of Managements response council staff implemented, where 
reasonable, a further range of activities, checks and reports to help address the 
highlighted activities.   
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Corporate Services  

 
Audit Committee Activity Report 

 
The purpose of the Audit Committee is to assist the Council in the conduct of its 
responsibilities for the management of risk, corporate and financial governance and legal 
compliance, related to financial reporting and audit initiatives, the internal control system 
and the audit functions. The committee acts as a source of advice to Council and the 
Chief Executive Officer in relation to these matters.  

   
The Committee: 
 

 enhances the communication between the external auditor and the Council; 

 assists the management of business risks to ensure the protection of Council 

assets; 

 monitors the effectiveness of audit and corporate and financial governance 

functions; 

 enhances the integrity of the financial reporting of the Council; and 

 reviews the effectiveness of the Council’s internal controls and risk management 

systems. 

 
The information below is a summary of the Southern Mallee District Council Audit 

Committee’s activities undertaken and recommendations made during the 2017/2018 

financial year. 

 

Membership 

 

Council has appointed Members to its Audit Committee as follows: 

 

Name Position 

Mr Peter Brass Independent  

Mr Robert Reiman Independent Member 

Mr Andrew Grieger Council Member 

Mr Neville Pfeiffer Council Member 

Mr Dennis Hyde Council Member 

 

The following staff members have attended meetings as observers: 

 

 Chief Executive Officer 

 Manager Corporate Services 

 Governance Officer 
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Corporate Services  

 
Audit Committee Activity Report 
 

Meetings 

 

The Audit Committee held 5 Ordinary meetings during 2017/2018 with attendance as 

follows: 

 

Meeting Date Attendance 

2 August 2017 Mr Dennis Hyde was an apology 

22 November 2017 All in attendance 

28 February 2018 Mr Andrew Grieger and Mr Neville Pfeiffer  

were apologies 

10 April 2018 All in attendance 

14 June 2018 All in attendance 

 

Mr Jim Keogh of Dean Newbery and Partners, External Auditors met with the Audit 

Committee in camera at the ordinary meeting on 22 November 2017. 

 

Training Activities 

 

There were no scheduled training activities during 2017/2018. 
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Corporate Services  

 
Audit Committee Activity Report 
 

Committee Activities 

 

The following table sets out the principal issues addressed by the Audit Committee during 

2017/2018 in line with the Audit Committees Terms of Reference: 

 

Activity Outcome 
Financial Reporting 

 

 

 

Budget Reviews 1, 2 and 3 

Financial Policy Reviews 

Review Financial Internal Controls 

2016-2017 Annual Report 

2018-2019 Annual Business Plan and Budget 

Draft Annual Business Plan and Budget 2017-2018 

Stormwater Drainage Infrastructure Revaluation  

Revised Asset Management Plans x 3 

Revised Long Term Financial Plan 
Internal Controls and Risk Management Systems 

 

 

Review KPI Action Plan 

Review LGRS Draft Scope of works for Risk 

Management Policy and Framework project 

Review Business Continuity Plan 

 

External Audit 

 

 

2016/2017 Audited Annual Financial Statements / 

Annual Report 

Meeting with External Auditor (in camera) 

 

Work Health & Safety Review KPI Action Plan 

Review of Councils Volunteer induction and Volunteer 

register through Tailored Implementation Plan (TIP) 

 

Audit Committee Performance Activity Report 2016-2017 

Audit Committee Work Plan 

 

 

 
 

  



Southern Mallee District Council 

Page 20 of 62 
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Customer Service Reports - Summary Report by Subject 

For the 2017/18 Year 
 

Subject Complete Pending Outstanding Total 

Abandoned Vehicles 1 0 0 1 

Community Development Enquiries 1 0 0 1 

Community Relations 6 0 0 6 

Damaged Street Tree Maintenance 5 0 0 5 

Dog Complaints 9 0 0 9 

Enquiries and Requests for Animal 
Information 

3 0 0 3 

Financial Enquiries 2 0 0 2 

Fire Prevention Advice 5 0 0 5 

Footpath Maintenance 
Reconstruction & Reinstatements 

6 0 0 6 

Health / Immunisation Information 1 0 0 1 

Infrastructure Enquiries 20 1 1 22 

Installation & Maintenance of Street & 
Directional Signs 

5 0 0 5 

Notification of Damage to 
Infrastructure 

4 0 1 5 

Property Enquiries 2 0 0 2 

Property Management Enquiries 70 1 1 72 

Public Reaction Complaints & 
Responses 

3 0 0 3 

Rate Enquiries 1 0 0 1 

Recreation & Sport Enquiries 1 0 0 1 

Request for Development Information 5 0 0 5 

Request for Environmental 
Information 

3 0 0 3 

Requests for Information not leading 
to FOI 

2 0 0 2 

Road Complaints 4 0 0 4 

Road Kerb & Channel Maintenance 47 1 1 49 

Roadside Vegetation Management 4 0 0 4 

Stormwater and Drain Maintenance 2 0 0 2 

Street Furniture Maintenance 2 0 0 2 

Streetscaping Maintenance 4 0 0 4 

Traffic Control Enquiries 4 0 0 4 

Waste Management Information – 
Landfill Desludge etc. 

2 0 0 2 

Grand Total 224 3 4 231 
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Customer Service Reports - Summary Report by Department 

For the 2017/2018 Year 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
  

Department Complete Pending Outstanding Total 

Administration 1 0 0 1 

Assets 2 0 0 2 

Development 28 1 0 29 

Financial Management 2 0 0 2 

Fire Prevention 6 0 0 6 

Governance 15 0 0 15 

Infrastructure 165 2 4 171 

Rates 1 0 0 1 

Works 4 0 0 4 

Grand Total 224 3 4 231 
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Childcare on the Go Service ( COGS )  

 
Our innovative Mobile Childcare Service aims to provide individual quality care by 

nurturing and educating young children through a play based program in an environment 

which is safe and secure, complimenting and valuing the family and community, and 

supporting their diverse backgrounds. The Childcare Service is centrally administered in 

Lameroo and provides Long Day Care to children across the region. On 2 July 2018, 

Mallee Cogs made the transition from a Budget Based Funding (BBF) Service to the New 

Childcare Subsidy.  

Mallee COGS operates four days per week across Pinnaroo, Lameroo and Karoonda 

with the capacity for 102 children each week across all three sites. The childcare service 

is a vital service for families in the region who are in the workforce as well as those self-

employed families. We currently have a total of 15 Educators (11 Diploma Qualified, 3 

Cert III and 1 working towards a qualification).  

Mallee COGS has seen a number of milestones, changes and improvements over the 

past 12 months, some of which include; 

 Smooth transition to the New Childcare Subsidy.  

 Department of Education’s approval to fund a Kindergarten Teacher in 

Lameroo for 2019 – ensuring continuation of the service. 

 Submitted application for Building Better Regions Grant ($580K) for a capital 

works project at Pinnaroo. 

 Secured Peppercorn Lease and Demolition works with DECD for new Pinnaroo 

Centre.   

 Extended operating hours to accommodate working parents.  

 Continued partnership with Gowrie SA surrounding Inclusion Support for 

children with additional needs. 

 Secured the minimum enrolment numbers to ensure the continued service in 

Karoonda for 2019 

 Providing Workplace Learning Placement for Lameroo Regional Community 

Students.  

 

We are excited to continue working with the children in our service and their families to 

see what is next in their Education and Care journey. 
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Works Department 

 
The Works Department had a very productive 2017/2018. With the responsibility of 
managing a large portion of the Council’s Annual Budget, it was truly a team effort to 
complete all the works planned for the year. A number of significant capital and renewal 
projects were delivered in 2017 / 2018 as well as maintaining current assets. 
 

 
The Council is responsible for 1,342 kilometres of roads across the district of which 125 
kilometres are sealed. Other areas of the Works Department include pools, cemeteries, 
aerodromes, waste water, parks and gardens, waste and recycling, plant and equipment, 
storm water and quarries.  
 
The Council’s overall expenditure on works including road renewal and road maintenance 
works was $3.1 million. This was funded by rates but also by specific government grants 
including R2R (Roads to Recovery) Funding $575,000, Special Local roads $734,000 and 
Grants Commission $401,000. 
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Road Construction and Maintenance Works 

 
Works carried out included:  

Resheeting of Rubble Roads 

The Council has 1,217 kilometres of unsealed roads to maintain across the district. 
Depending on volume and type of traffic and quality of rubble, they need resheeting every 
20 to 25 years. In 2017/2018 the Council spent $488,000 on carrying out various resheets 
plus a full reconstruction of 4.5 kilometres and sealing of Tauragat Well Road at a cost of 
$1.135 million. 
 

Road Name Amount [ $ ] 

Claypan East Road 73,000 

Claypan West  Road          107,000  

Karte Road       122,000 

Chandos  Road            86,000 

Yappara Road            100,000 

Tauragat Well Road 4.5 kilometres full construction and seal            1,135,000 

Total         1,623,000 
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Works Department  

 
Road Construction and Maintenance Works 

 
Works carried out included: 

Maintenance Works 

Maintenance works carried out across the district included: 
 

Road Name Amount [ $ ] 

Patrol Grading/Patching 488,000 

Sealed Road Repairs 28,000 

Footpath Maintenance 8,000 

Traffic Control 3,000 

Other Road Services 16,000 

Total 543,000 

 

 
[Includes, weed spraying, roadside mowing and inspections] 

Road Reseals 

Council has 130 kilometres of sealed roads and streets which need to be resealed 
approximately every 20 years. In 2017 / 2018 Council spent $225,000 on sealed roads. 
 

 
 

Town Streets Upgrades 

 
Footpath Works 
 

Footpath construction works were carried out with a total footpath expenditure of $14,000. 
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Parks, Gardens and Recreational Reserves 

 
The Council’s parks and gardens and reserves are maintained within and around the 
towns across the district. The Council has over the years embraced a system for all parks, 
reserves and roadsides so that the highly utilised parks receive more maintenance and 
attention compared to the less used parks and reserves.  
 
The expenditure on all parks, gardens and recreational reserve maintenance in  
2107/2018 was $455,000. 
 

 
 

Plant & Machinery 

 
The Council has continued to upgrade and replace plant (vehicles and machinery) in 
accordance with their 10 year plant replacement program, this ensures the Council 
constantly turns over plant at the optimum time. 
 
During 2017/2018 the Council procured ($627); new Caterpillar Grader, new Case 
Skidsteer, 2 x manager vehicles, 3 x work vehicles, 2x Kubota mowers. 
 
During the financial year the Council expends $163,000 on purchasing fuel and oil, 
$201,000 on maintaining its plant and machinery  
 

 
 

Waste Management 

 
The Southern Mallee District Council continues to operate three transfer stations 
throughout the district located at Pinnaroo, Lameroo and Geranium. The landfill site is 
located at Lameroo. 

 
Waste Management expenditure in 2017/2018 was $351,000.  

The main expenditure items were: 

 Transfer Stations $80,000 

 Landfill Maintenance $37,000 

 Collection of 240 litre waste bin from town properties weekly $110,000 
 Collection of 240 litre recycling bins from town properties monthly $28,000 
  



Southern Mallee District Council 

Page 27 of 62 

Works Department 

 
Community Wastewater Management Systems (CWMS) 

 
The Council has Community Wastewater Management Services in Lameroo and 
Pinnaroo. The cost of running these two schemes in 2017/2018 was $205,000, which is 
totally funded by the service charges applied against users of the schemes. 
 
Airfields 

 
The Council maintains a single authorised landing field at Pinnaroo.  Pinnaroo has one 
strip which is rubbled. It is used by the Royal Flying Doctor Service and local pilots. 
 
Safety audits are undertaken each year as well as regular inspections followed by any 
necessary maintenance to ensure that the Southern Mallee District Council airfields 
remained suitable for continuing use. 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Other Works 

 
The Works Department is also responsible for the following:  

Street Lighting 

The Council is responsible for the cost of street lighting in the towns. Cost in 2017/2018 
was $39,000. 
 
Street Cleaning 
 

The Council undertakes regular cleaning of the kerbs and gutters in the towns. As well as 
keeping the appearance of the towns tidy it keeps rubbish and plastics out of important 
water courses. Expenditure in 2017/2018 was $30,000. 
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Other Works 

 
Cemeteries 
 

The Council has three cemeteries that it maintains. In 2017/2018 there were: 
 
 3 Burials at Parrakie 
 

 7 Burials at Lameroo and 4 ashes interment 
 

 9 Burials at Pinnaroo 
 
 
The cost of maintaining our cemeteries in 2017/2018 was $30,000, offset by income of 
burials which was $17,000. With three cemeteries and so few burials it is not possible to 
reach a user pays break-even point. 
 

 
 

Asset Management Plans 

 
The Council is continuing to develop asset management plans for all areas of the 
Council’s operations which will lead to sustainable management of the Council’s 
infrastructure. 
 
Infrastructure asset management plans define the service levels to be provided by the 
assets, which combined with condition assessment information and the various 
hierarchies across the asset classes allow the most urgent works to be prioritized and 
completed. The plans also define maintenance funding requirements to ensure assets 
continue to meet the required level of service and prevent premature degradation. The 
funding requirements for all asset classes will be reflected in the Council’s Long Term 
Financial Plan to ensure the overall financial sustainability of the Council. 
 
When the plans are developed they together with the Council’s Strategic Management 
Plan and Long Term Financial Plan will form the framework for future budgets to follow. 
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The following portfolio of responsibilities are conducted by the delegated Council staff or 
contractor. 
 
• SA Public Health Act requirements 
• Immunisation Promotion 
• Development Control 

• Assessment & Approval of Waste Control Systems 
• Property Management 
• Planning & Building Approvals 
• Food Safety 
• Fire Prevention 
• Animal Management 
• Mosquito Control 

 
 

 
 

General Environmental Health & Food Safety 

 
Regional Public Health Planning 
 

As required by the SA Public Health Act 2011 the Local Government Murray Mallee 
Public Health, consisting of the Murray Mallee Local Government Association formed to 
combine a joint plan for the region. This committee meet on a quarterly basis to plan 
and develop projects for each Local Government area. 
 
The resulting plan has become a living document and thus a guide to future Public Health 
initiatives, particularly in relation to “lifestyle diseases”. 
 
The Murray Mallee Local Government Association Public Health Committee was the 
first regional group to have our plan developed and operating and provided a guide for 
the rest of the Local Government Association groups. 

 
The Murray Mallee Local Government Association  
consists of the following areas: 
 
• The Rural City of Murray Bridge   
• Mid Murray Council 

• Berri Barmera Council 
• District Council of Loxton Waikerie 
• Renmark Paringa District Council 
• District Council of Karoonda East Murray 
• Southern Mallee District Council 
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General Environmental Health & Food Safety 

 
Auditing 
 

Auditing of premises in conjunction with SA Health and subject to the provisions of the 
Food Act were as follows:- 
 
• Lameroo Hospital 
• Pinnaroo Hospital 
 
 

Shared Services 

 
The Southern Mallee District Council and the Rural City of Murray Bridge have instigated 
a shared services arrangement around the following service provisions: 
 
• Public Health issues   
• Safe Food Handling 
• Food Safety Audits 
• Waste Control Systems 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Immunisation Promotion 

 
School Immunisation Programs 
 

The schools immunisation programs continued to be conducted, under contract to the 
Council, by the Mallee Health Service. 
 
 

Food Recalls 

 
There has been a number of national recalls of food products during the year. 
 
The reasons for the recalls ranged from foreign matter in the food and bacterial 
contamination to undeclared allergens, which made up the largest proportion of the recalls 
as is usually the case. 
 
Most of the problems in this area relate to food allergens not being shown as ingredients 
of the food on packaging labels.  
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Animal Management 

 
The provisions of the Dog & Cat Management Act 1995 were administered throughout the 
year. 
 
There was a reduction in the number of impounded dogs during the 2017-2018 financial 
year along with a reduction in Dog attack and harassment reports made to Council. There 
was increase in the number of dogs wandering at large. 

 
There was a reduction in the number of expiations issued to owners and a significant 
reduction in the number of dog’s euthanized during the 2017-2018 financial year. Southern 
Mallee District Council issued several public notifications relating to owners 
responsibilities under the Dog and Cat Management Act 1995.  

 
Complaints regarding barking dogs were also followed up with correspondence reminding 
the owners of their obligations as responsible dog owners. 
 
The Southern Mallee District Council successfully implemented the new Dogs and Cat 
online registration system with several public notifications made regarding the new 
registration, microchipping and desexing laws implemented by the Dog and Cat 
Management Board. Public Kiosks were installed at the Pinnaroo and Lameroo offices to 
assist the public with the new online registration system.   
 
 
 
 
Animal Management 
 
Dogs wandering at large   9 
Attacks/Harassment    1 
Barking Dogs    2 
Dogs Impounded    9 
Expiations Issued    1 
Euthanized                         1 
Re housed     1 

Released     7 
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Development Application Fees 

 
These fees, which are adjusted by the State Government each year, vary in accordance 
with the nature and type of project being undertaken. 
 
A list of types of applications and fees are provided to fully appreciate the cost of 
development as set by the State Government. 
 

 
Development Control 

 
A number of development applications were processed under the provisions of the 
Development Act 1993 and the Council’s Development Plan during the year. 
 
The types of applications processed were as follows: 
 
Verandas/Patio 2  
Carports 1 
Relocation of Transportable Buildings 0 
Domestic Sheds/garages 4 
Farm Sheds 21          
New Dwellings 2 
Advertising sign 0 
Grain storage/silo 1 
Land Division 1 
Refurbishment of business 1 
Change of land use 2 
Staff Quarters 1 
Solar Panels 1 
Demolition 1 
Industrial Sheds 2 
Light Poles 1 
 
TOTAL          41  

Assessment and Approval of Waste Control Systems 

Waste Control Systems 

Applications for the installation of two and two alterations to waste control systems were 
assessed and new installations inspected to ensure that the disease prevention 
requirements of SA Public Health Act (Waste Control) Regulations 1995 were satisfied. 

Number of applications approved: 4 
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Property Management 
 
A capital works budget of $ 37,000 was allocated to the Pinnaroo Retirement Village 
for the repairs and maintenance of current assets. Both units 4, 5 and 6 received 
upgrades to the laundry and bathroom areas with further upgrades to the floor 
coverings and painting of the units. Additional refrigerators and washing machines 
were purchased and allocated to the nominated units.  
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Parilla Accommodation    
 
Council operated Parilla Accommodation Facility is established to assist primarily 

horticulture producers in the district by providing accommodation for seasonal workers.  

The Council has invested time and financial resources into the facility this year in both 

infrastructure upgrades and renewals. 

The Statement of Comprehensive Income for the facility is outlined below: 

Parilla Accommodation Statement of Comprehensive Income as at 30 June 2018 

INCOME    Year to Date    Budget        Last year Actual  
User Charges    128,777.48             150,000.00 170,579.39 
Other Revenues                                                                  
TOTAL INCOME    128,777.48             150,000.00 170,579.39 
 
EXPENDITURE 
Wages & Salaries     49,215.95  64,129.60   50,993.60 
Contractual Services     12,730.11  18,940.00   21,807.30 
Materials      35,933.43  32,300.00   41,392.17 
Depreciation      11,205.79  11,000.00   10,831.18 
Other Expenses      10,996.66  10,040.72   13,313.22 
TOTAL EXPENDITURE   120,080.94              136,410.32 138,337.47 
 
SURPLUS / (DEFICIT)        8,696.54               13,589.68  32,241.92 
 

After the spike of 2016/2017 the facility has seen a significant decrease in sales of 

$42,000 with decreased usage from the horticultural sector over the past twelve months.  

The decrease in sales can be directly attributed to an increase in other accommodation 

options in the region that are reportedly cheaper but providing better access and 

opportunities for shopping, social interaction, mobile phone and internet connectivity. 

The presence of the Facility Officer with consistent days and hours continues to provide 

an increased level of service to tenants and host companies.  Unfortunately after 

significant capital expenditure the past two years the occupancy rate has dropped from 

69% in 2016/2017 to 45% in 2017/2018.  
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Bushfire Prevention 

 
Bushfire prevention activities undertaken 
included:- 
 
• Public information and education 
• Township surveys 
• Issuing of risk reduction notices 

where required, and 
• The carrying out of block clearance  

work in default when notices were  
not complied with 

 
Notices 
 

There was an increase in the number of notices issued in the 2017-2018 financial year 
with an additional six notices being issued in comparison to the 2016-2017 financial year.  
 
Burning Permits 
 

The issuing of burning permits during the fire danger season continued to be undertaken 
by the Council’s permit officers during this period. 
 
Murray Mallee Bushfire Management Committee 
 

The Southern Mallee District Council continues to be represented on the Murray Mallee 
Bushfire Management Committee which has the primary function of preparing and 
implementing new plans for bushfire prevention and management across the Murray 
Mallee region. 
 
Grain Harvesting Code of Practice 
 

The Grain Harvesting Code of Practice, developed by the South Australian Farmers 
Federation, in consultation with the SA Country Fire Service, was again voluntarily 
implemented during the fire danger season by the local farming community. 
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Development Plan Amendment 

 
The Council Development Plan, which is the document by which all development in the 
Council area is assessed, was comprehensively updated and authorised by the Governor 
in December 2017.The changes to the Development Plan were the first comprehensive 
review since 2000, and bring the plan into compliance with the requirements of the State 
Government, which seek to create a standard format for development plans across the 
State based on a library of policies produced by the Department of Planning Development 
and Infrastructure The updating of the Development Plan enables planning policy to 
better reflect development changes and trends that have occurred in recent years. The 
new format should simplify and speed up the assessment of most applications that are 
assessed by the Council. The State Government is looking to implement a new planning 
system, with a new Act, regulations and statewide planning policies which it hopes to 
have in place by late 2019.This should further assist in simplifying the planning process.   
 
Swimming Pools 
 
The Southern Mallee District Council operate two Community Swimming Pools  
One is located in Lameroo and the other in Pinnaroo. 
 
Lameroo Swimming Pool 
 

3933 patrons were recorded as attending the Lameroo Swimming Pool during the 
2017/2018 season. 191 Ticket holders = $9,600 in season ticket sales. 
 
Pinnaroo Swimming Pool 
 

3686 patrons were recorded as attending the Pinnaroo Swimming Pool during the 
2017/2018 season. 178 Ticket holders = $8,520.00 in season ticket sales. 
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Chief Executive Officer

Works Manager

Works Supervisor

Mechanic

Plant Operators

Parks & Gardens Staff

Waste & Recycling

Swimming Pool Staff

Manager Corporate 
Services

Finance Officer

Payroll/Human 
Resources Officer

Rates Officer

Childcare Staff

Records Officers 

Administration / 
Customer Service 

Officers

WHS Coordinator

Assets Officer

Governance Officer

Manager Building & 
Regulatory Services

Accomodation Facility 
Coordinator

Development Services 
Officer

Coordinator of 
Executive Services
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Functional Structure  

 

 

 

 
 

 Council administration and governance 

 Executive leadership 

 Corporate planning and strategy 

 Organisational development 

 Public relations and media 

 Economic development, grants and investment  

 Community development  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Finance and audit committee 

 Rates and debtors 

 Contracts management and procurement 

 Asset management 

 Information technology and records management 

 Customer service 

 Childcare services (COGS) 

 Payroll and human resources 

 Work health and safety 

 Risk management and permits 

 Insurance 

 Library services 

 
 
 
 
  

Chief Executive 
Officer

Responsible for:

Manager Corporate 
Services

Responsible for:
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 Roads, footpaths and drainage 

 Contract management and procurement  

 Capital works program - infrastructure 

 Works and services 

 Parks and gardens, cemeteries, and caravan park  

 Swimming pools 

 Waste management 

 Cleaning services 

 Airport management 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Building services 

 Statutory and strategic land use planning  

 Emergency management 

 Community buildings and land and leases and licences 

 Animal management 

 Parilla accommodation facility 

 Contract management and procurement 

 Retirement village  

 Capital works program – property 

 

  

Works Manager

Responsible for:

Manager Building & 
Regulatory Services

Responsible for:
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Elected Member Attendance at Council Meetings (Ordinary and Special) 
 
Total Number of Meetings 12 
 
 
 
Cr Andrew Grieger (Mayor) 

 
12 

 
Cr Neville Pfeiffer (Deputy Mayor) 11 

Cr Allan Dunsford 11 
 
Cr Dennis Hyde 

 
11 

 
Cr Stacey Milde 

 
7 

 
Cr Kevin O’Driscoll 

 
10 

 
Cr Bruce Summerton 

 
9 

 
Cr Brian Toogood 

 
10 

 
Cr Mark White 

 
9 

 

 

Members Allowances 2017 / 2018 

 
Elected Member allowances are set by the Remuneration Tribunal and take effect from 
the first ordinary meeting of the Council held after the conclusion of the periodic elections. 
(Section 76 and Regulation 4, Local Government (Allowances and Benefits) Regulations 
2010). 
 
The following allowances are paid to Elected Members as at 30 June 2018: 
 

Mayor $ 23,589.85 
Deputy Mayor $   7,372.15 
Councillors $   5,898.00 
 
Members receive approved travel allowances to attend Council Meetings and for 
conducting Council business. 
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Confidential Items 

 
The Southern Mallee District Council is committed to the principals of open and 
accountable governance. Council also recognises that on occasions it may be necessary in 
the broader community interest to restrict public access to discussion and/or documents. 
During 2017-2018 the Council considered Seventeen items in confidence in accordance with 
Section 90(2) and 91(7) of the Local Government Act, 1999. 
 
 
The table below identifies the number of times a given provision under Section 90 (3) of 
the Local Government Act 1999 was utilised to exclude the public: 
 

 
2017-2018 

 

 
S90(3)(a) 

 
Information relating  to  the  unreasonable disclosure of 
personal affairs 
 

 
8 

 
S90(3)(g) 

 
Matters that must be considered in confidence in order to 
ensure that the council does not breach any law, order or 
direction of a court or tribunal constituted by law, any duty of 
confidence, or other legal obligation or duty 
 

 
1 

 
S90(3)(h) 

 
Legal advice 
 

 
1 

 
S90(3)(k) 

 
Information relating to tenders for the supply of goods & 
services 
 

 
7 

 
TOTAL 
 

 
17 
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Registers, Codes, Policies and Procedures 

(Required to be kept under the Local Government Act and/or Local Government 
Elections Act 1999) 
 
Registers; 
 
Section 68 Members Register of Interests 

Section 79 Members Register of Allowances and Benefits 
Section 105 Officers Register of Salaries 
Section 116 Officer Register of Interests 
Section 188 Fees and Charges 
Section 196 Community Land Management Plans 
Section 207 Community Land 
Section 231 Public Roads 
Part 14 Campaign Donation Returns prepared by candidates 
 
 
Codes; 
 
Section 63 Members Code of Conduct 
Section 92 Code of Practice for Access to Meetings and Documents 
Section 110 Employees Code of Conduct 
Reg 7 Code of Practice Meeting Procedures 
 
 
Freedom of Information 
 
The Council maintains the principles of the Freedom of Information Act 1991 
 
During the period; 
 
Number of requests received under the Freedom of Information Act   Nil 
 
Number of external reviews under the Freedom of Information Act   Nil 
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Council’s Representation Quota 
 
The Council’s Representation Structure is nine Councillors elected as representative of 
two wards and the area as a whole.   Kelly Scales Ward is to be represented by four 
Councillors and Bews Ward by five Councillors. 
 
As of 28 February 2018, there were 1,378 electors on the Council Voters Roll in the 
Southern Mallee District Council with an average representation quota of 153. 
 
The following table provides a comparison of representation quota with other similar sized 
Council’s as at 28 February 2018. 
 
 
Council Number of Electors Representation Quota 

Barunga West 2004 222 

Ceduna 2057 228 

Goyder 3061 437 

Kangaroo Island 3480 348 

Kingston 1872 234 

Lower Eyre Peninsula 3744 534 

Mount Remarkable 2162 308 

Peterborough 1220 135 

Southern Mallee 1378 153 

Tumby Bay 2019 288 

Yankalilla 4277 475 

 
 
An elector representation review (required by chapter 3, part 1, division 2 of the Local 
Government Act 1999) was completed in 2017.  The Electoral Commissioner certified 
that the review undertaken by Council satisfied the requirements of the Act.  
 
The outcome of the review will see the Council reduce Councillor representation from 9 to 7 
and abolish wards to become a district from the November 2018 elections. 
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Senior Executive Officers – Register of Salaries 
 
 

Title of Position Classification Other Benefits/ Packages 
 
 
 
 

Chief Executive Officer 

 
 
 
 

Contract Agreement 

 
Private use of vehicle; 
Telephone Council pay 
rental, business STD calls 
and half-local calls; 
Professional Development 
$4,000; Superannuation 
11.5%; Annual Leave 6 
weeks per annum 

 
 
 
 

Manager Corporate Services 

 
 
 
 

Wage – MOA-SA 

 
 
 
Private use of vehicle 

 

 
 

 
Works Manager 

 
 
 
 

Wage – MOA-SA 

 
 
 
 

Private use of vehicle 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 Manager Building and    
 Regulatory Services 
 

 
 
 
 Wage – MOA-SA 

 
 
 
 Private use of vehicle 
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Competitive Tendering 
 
The Council is committed to purchasing goods and services in an honest manner that 

ensures a fair, transparent and accountable process is available to all parties involved. 

The Council aims to ensure that its methods of purchasing foods and services are cost 

effective and meet the needs of the community. 

 
Use of local goods and services 
 
The Council is committed to identifying opportunities for improved outcomes when 

acquiring goods and services. The Council has developed policy, procedures and 

practices directed towards obtaining value in the expenditure of public money, ethical and 

fair treatment for all participants and ensuring probity, accountability and transparency in 

all of its operations. 

 
Copies of the Southern Mallee District Council Procurement Policy are available for public 
inspection and/or purchase. A copy is also available on the Council’s website at 
www.southernmallee.sa.gov.au 
 
Equal Employment 
 

Environment Free from Discrimination 
 
The Southern Mallee District Council is committed to a policy of equal opportunity in 
employment. 
 
The Council accepts that it has a responsibility to create an environment free from 
discrimination, and to ensure that the principle of merit operates unhindered by regard to 
irrelevant criteria. To this end the Council will act to ensure that its structures are free from 
direct or indirect discrimination on the grounds of sex, marital status or pregnancy, race, 
age, sexual orientation, gender history, religious or political beliefs, impairment, family 
responsibility or family status. 
  

http://www.southernmallee.sa.gov.au/
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Elected Member Training 

 

2016 
Nil 
 
 
Staff Training 

 
2017 
Manual Handling 
Records Management – LG Classification and General Disposal Schedule 20 
Fire & Safety Awareness 
Prescribed Officer Training 
Records Management Fundamentals 
CPR Updates and First Aid 
Certificate III in Business – Regional Youth Traineeship Program funded and  
supported by the Minister for Regional Development Minister Geoff Brock 
 
2018 
Emergency Management Operations 
Work zone Traffic Management 
Grader & Excavator Training 
Dog Handling 
Certificate IV in WHS  
Risk Management Awareness 
Executive & Personal Assistants Forum 
Leadership by Design  
Hecklers or Influencers 
Preventing Social Media Trainwrecks 
Asset Management Plans 
Long Term Financial Plans 
Audit Committees 
Voters Roll Compilation Information Session 
Caretaker Policy Information Session 
IT Vision End of Financial Year Training – Finance 
IT Vision End of Financial Year Training – Payroll 
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Regional Map 
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Council boundaries 
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Overview 
 
Principal Member    Mayor Cr Andrew Grieger  
 
Chief Executive Officer   Jason Taylor  
 
Staff      68  
 
 
 
Key Measurements 
 
Total area  6,000 square kilometers  
 
Rateable properties  1701 
 
Road length  1,342 kilometres 

 

Sealed road length    125 kilometres 
 
 
Key Locations 

 
Services Centres  Pinnaroo and Lameroo 
 
Libraries  Geranium, Lameroo and Pinnaroo 

Community Centres  Geranium, Lameroo, Parilla, Pinnaroo 

 
Communication 

 
Telephone  (08) 8577 8002 
 
WEB  www.southernmallee.sa.gov.au 
 

Email  council@southernmallee.sa.gov.au 

Facebook  www.facebook.com\SouthernMalleeDC 

 

  

http://www.southernmallee.com.au/
mailto:council@southernmallee.sa.gov.au
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Valuer-General Valuations as at 30 June 2018 
 

Category 
2016 2017           

Capital 
Value 

CV 
Movement 

No 
Properties 

2017 2018  
Capital Values 

    
Capital 
Value 

% 
Change 

Non Rateable 18,658,900 -68,500 307 18,590,400 -0.37% 

Lameroo Town 9,428,000 103,000 90 9,531,000 1.09% 

Geranium Town 890,900 33,000 18 923,900 3.70% 

Parrakie Town 420,300 0 14 420,300 0.00% 

Lameroo 201,420,800 1,068,400 492 202,489,200 0.53% 

Parilla Town 1,671,000 0 29 1,671,000 0.00% 

Pinnaroo Town 11,769,000 73,100 138 11,842,100 0.62% 

Pinnaroo 142,416,800 -26,000 370 142,390,800 -0.02% 

Town Other 56,264,500 928,400 523 57,192,900 1.65% 

Totals 442,940,200 2,111,400 1,981 445,051,600 0.48% 

 
 

Rating Model  
 

Total Rate Revenue by Region  
 

Period 2016 2017  2017  2018  Increase 

Region - Township $218,605 7% $224,515 7% 3% 

Region - Rural $2,531,471 79% $2,576,018 79% 2% 

Region - Town Other $448,466 14% $462,924 14% 3% 

Total $3,198,542 100% $3,263,457 100% 2% 
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Rating Model  

 

 

Total Rate Revenue by Community 
 

Community 2016 2017 2017 2018 Variation 

Lameroo Township 82,289 84,692 2.92% 

Geranium Township 9,825 10,076 2.55% 

Parrakie Township 7,210 7,358 2.06% 

Parilla Township 14,993 15,309 2.11% 

Pinnaroo Township 104,288 107,080 2.68% 

Lameroo Rural 1,481,928 1,511,787 2.01% 

Pinnaroo Rural 1,049,543 1,064,231 1.40% 

Town Other 448,466 462,924 3.22% 

Total Rate Revenue $3,198,542 $3,263,457 2.03% 

 
 

 
 

Rate in the Dollar by Region 

 

Region 2016 2017 2017 2018 Variation 

Township 0.008277 0.008450 2.05% 

Rural 0.007297 0.007400 1.39% 

Town Other 0.007297 0.007400 1.39% 
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Rating Model  
 
 
Community Wastewater Management System Service Charges  

 
 

Description 
Charge 

2016 2017 
Charge 

2017 2018 
Income 

Effluent Charge $572 $582 $434,420 

Less Vacant Land Effluent Rebates $286 $290 -$20,590 

Less Discretionary Rebates    -$1,740 

Forecast Income $412,090 

Less Rebates $89 

Scheme balance as at 30 June 2018 $412,001 

 

 
Method Used to Value Land 
 
The Council may adopt one of three valuation methodologies to value land and 
improvements in the community and include; 
 

 Capital Value being the value of the land and all the improvements on the land.  
 

 Site Value being the value of the land and any improvements which permanently affect 
the amenity of use of the land, such as drainage works, but excluding the value of 
buildings and other improvements. 

 

 Annual Value being a valuation of the rental potential of the property. 
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Method Used to Value Land 
 

The Council has determined to continue to use capital values as the basis for valuing 
land within the Council area as the Council believes this method provides the fairest 
method of distributing the rate burden across all ratepayers on the following basis; 

 

 The equity principle of taxation requires that ratepayers of similar wealth pay similar 
taxes and ratepayers of greater wealth pay more tax than ratepayers of lesser wealth. 

 

 Property value is a relatively good indicator of wealth and capital value, which closely 
approximates the market value of a property and provides the best indicator of overall 
property value. 

 

 The distribution of property values throughout the Council area is such that few 
residential ratepayers will pay significantly more than the average level of rates 
payable per property. 

 
 

Adoption of Valuations 
 
A Council may employ or engage a valuer to value the land in the area or it may use the 

valuations provided by the Valuer‐General, or it may use a combination of both subject 
to certain restrictions. 
 

The Valuer‐General is a statutory officer appointed by the Governor.  
 

The Council has adopted the most recent valuations made by the Valuer‐General. 
 

If a ratepayer is dissatisfied with the valuation made by the Valuer‐General then the 
ratepayer may object to the Valuer‐General in writing, within 60 days of receiving the 
notice of the valuation, explaining the basis for the objection, provided they have not:  
 

 Previously received a notice of this valuation under the Local Government Act, in which 
case the objection period is 60 days from the receipt of the first notice; or  

 

 Previously had an objection to the valuation considered by the Valuer‐General. 
 

It is to be noted, however that regardless of the 60 day limitation period before lodging 

an objection to the valuation the Valuer‐General may, for good reason, determine to 
accept an objection lodged outside this time period. 
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Objection to Valuation  
 

A person may object to a valuation of the Valuer‐General by notice in writing, setting out 

the reasons for the objections, and the Valuer‐General must consider the objection. 
 
If the person then remains dissatisfied with the valuation the person has a right to a 
review. 
 
Applications must be made within 21 days of receipt of the notice of the decision  

(in relation to the objection) from the Valuer‐General. 
 
A payment of the prescribed fee for the review to be undertaken together with the review 
application must be lodged in the State Valuation Office, who will then refer the matter to 
an independent Valuer. 
 
If the person remains dissatisfied with the valuation then they have a right of appeal to 
the Land and Valuation Court (Section 24, 25A, 25B & 25C of the Valuation of Land Act 
1971).  
 
The address of the State Valuation Office is 101 Grenfell Street, Adelaide SA 5000 (GPO 
Box 1354, Adelaide SA 5001) and the telephone number is 1300 653 346 
(General Enquiries) 1300 653 345 (Objections enquiries).  
 
Special Note 
 
The Council has no role in the process of considering an objection to a valuation. 
 
Also, it is important to note the lodgment of an objection does not change the due date 
for the payment of rates. 
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Notional Values  
 
Certain properties may be eligible for a notional value, where the property is the principal 
place of residence of a ratepayer, under the Valuation of Land Act 1971. 
 
This relates to some primary production land or where there is State heritage recognition. 
 
Any owner that believes that they are entitled to a ‘notional value’ must apply in writing to 
the State Valuation Office. 
 
 
Business Impact Statement 
 

 The Council has considered the impact of rates on businesses in the Council area, 
including primary production. 

 
In considering the impact, Council assessed the following matters: 
 

 Those elements of the Council’s strategic plans relating to business development.  
 

 Local, Regional, State, National and as appropriate International Economic 
Influencers.  

 

 Specific issues faced by the Southern Mallee community. 
 

 Immediate, short and medium term projects and initiatives that will principally benefit 
industry and business development.  

 

 Movement in the Consumer Price Index (CPI) and other relevant indices.  
 

 Valuation changes in commercial and industrial properties compared with valuation 
changes in residential properties in the region. 

 

 Council through elected member’s consultation with ratepayers. 
 

 The equitable distribution of the rate burden between classes of ratepayers who 
receive broadly comparable services and are generally similarly impacted upon by 
prevailing economic conditions. 
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Business Impact Statement 
 

Council’s policy on facilitating local economic development preference for local suppliers 
where price, quality and service provision are comparable to suppliers outside the Council 
area. 
 
Council has considered incentives for attracting new business and has adopted the 
following policy; 
 
‘ That Council provide a full rebate on rates on increased capital improvements for five 
years on new business premises if the business employs 3 or more persons and that 
Council is receptive to additional incentives on an individual application basis ’ 

 
 

Council’s Revenue Raising Powers  
 

All land within a Council area, except for land specifically exempt, that is Crown land, 
Council occupied land and other land prescribed in the Local Government Act – refer 
Section 147 of the Act, is rateable. 
 
The Local Government Act provides for a Council to raise revenue for the broad purposes 
of the Council through a general rate, which applies to all rateable properties, or through 
differential general rates, which apply to classes of properties. 
 
In addition, Council can raise separate rates, for specific areas of the Council or service 
rates or charges for specific services. 
 
The Council also raises revenue through fees and charges, which are set giving 
consideration to the cost of the service provided and any equity issues. 

 
The list of applicable fees and charges is available at the Southern Mallee District Council 
Day Street Pinnaroo or on our website: www.southernmallee.sa.gov.au. 
 
A Goods and Services Tax at a rate determined under the Goods and Services Tax Act 
1999 will be charged on those fees not given exemption under the Act. 
  

http://www.southernmallee.sa.gov.au/
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Differential General Rates  
 
The 2017/2018 Annual Business Plan proposes to raise rate revenue of $3.26m in a total 
operating revenue budget of $6.64m. 
 
The Council has determined to impose a differential general rates on the following 
classes of properties: 
 
A general rate in the dollar of .008450 for all properties located in Townships. 
 
A general rate in the dollar of .007400 for other properties located in Lameroo, Geranium, 
Parrakie, Parilla and Pinnaroo. 
 
A general Rate in the dollar of .007400 for all other rateable land in the district. 
 
By applying these differential rates to the valuations provided by the Valuer General as 
at 30 June 2017, the Council intends to raise $224,515 from the towns as well as 
$3,038,942 from other rateable land. 
 
This represents a 2% increase on the amounts raised last year.   
 
The Council has assessed the need for a differential rate based on the varying levels of 
service delivery and degrees of access to town services, such as waste management, 
footpaths, street lighting, recreation facilities and playgrounds. 
 
Land Use 
 
Land use is a factor to levy differential rates. 
  
If a ratepayer believes that a particular property has been wrongly classified by the 
Council as to its land use, then the ratepayer may object to that land use (to the Council) 
within 60 days of being notified. 
 
The objection must set out the basis for the objection and details of the land use that, in 
the opinion of the ratepayer, should be attributed to that property. 
 
The Council may then decide the objection as it sees fit and notify the ratepayer. 
 
A ratepayer also has the right to appeal against the Council’s decision to the Land and 
Valuation Court. 
 
Special Note 
 
It is important to note the lodgment of an objection does not change the due date for the 
payment of rates. 
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Minimum Rate  
 
A Council may impose a minimum rate, if it has not imposed a fixed charge, to ensure all 
Ratepayers contribute equitably towards the provision of basic services at a reasonable 
level. 
 
Where two or more adjoining properties have the same owner and are occupied by the 
same occupier, only one minimum rate is payable by the ratepayer. 
 
Where a Council imposes a minimum rate it must not apply to more than 35% of 
properties in the Council area. 
  
The Council has decided to impose a minimum rate of $547.  
 
 
Natural Resources Management (NRM) Levy  
 
The Southern Mallee District Council is within the area covered by the South Australian 
Murray Darling Basin Natural Resources Management Board and is required under the 
Natural Resources Management Act 2004 to fund the operations of the Board. 
 
The Council satisfies this obligation by imposing a separate rate against rateable 
properties within its area based on the Capital Value of rateable land.  
 
Within the Annual Business Plan, the revenue to be collected is $110,000. 
 
The Southern Mallee District Council is operating as a revenue collector for the South 
Australian Murray Darling Basin Natural Resources Management Board in this regard. 
 
Revenue from this levy is not retained by the Council, nor does the Council determine 
how the revenue is to be invested and acquitted.  
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Service Charge 
 
As set out in Section 155 (2) of the Local Government Act 1999, the Council imposes an 
annual service charge on properties in Lameroo and Pinnaroo for the Community 
Wastewater Management Schemes to meet the operational and capital costs of the 
schemes.  
 
The Council will recover this cost through an annual service charge of $580 per unit 
occupied land and $290 per unit vacant land per rateable assessment. 
 
Where the service is provided to non-rateable land, a service charge is levied against the 
land. 
 
 
Mobile Garbage Bin 
 

Council has introduced a new Mobile Garbage Bin (MGB) collection annual service 
charge for 2017 2018 as a result of increasing costs to collect and treat solid waste. 
 

MGB SERVICE CHARGES 

Description Charge 

First MGB Collection $190 

Additional MGB Collection $150 
 

 
Each MGB collection consists of one (1) 240 litre solid waste bin collected weekly and 
one (1) 240 litre recycle bin collected monthly.   
 
State Government Concessions 
 
Department for Families and Communities administers Council Rate concessions 
available to a range of eligible ratepayers receiving State and Commonwealth 
allowances.  
 
If you are a low income earner who meets the Departments threshold apply through the 
DFC Hotline 1800 307 758.  
 
For more information visit www.sa.gov.au/concessions  
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Postponement of Rates – Seniors 
 
Ratepayers who hold a State seniors card or who are eligible to hold a State Seniors card 
and have applied for one are able to apply to Council to postpone payment of rates on 
their principal place of residence. 
 
Postponed rates remain as a charge on the land and are not required to be repaid until 
the property is sold or disposed of. 
 
Interest, at the rate prescribed in the Local Government Act 1999, will be charged and 
compounded monthly on the total amount postponed, until the debt is paid. 
 

 
 

Rebate of Rates 
 
The Local Government Act requires Councils to rebate the rates payable on some land.  
 
Specific provisions are made for land used for health services, community services, 
religious purposes, public cemeteries and educational institutions.  
 
Discretionary rebates may be applied by the Council under Section 166 of the Act.  
 
The Council has adopted the following policy in relation to the rebate of rates:  
 
The Council also provides a Rate Rebate for the 2017/2018 year pursuant to Division 5 
of the Local Government Act 1999 to achieve the following;  
 

• That a maximum rate of $410 be applied to any vacant unused land. 
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Sale of Land for Non-payment of Rates 
 
The Local Government Act 1999 (Section 184) provides that Council may sell any 
property where the rates have been in arrears for three years or more. 
 
The Council is required to provide the principal ratepayer and the owner (if not the same 
person) with details of the outstanding amounts and advise the owner of its intention to 
sell the land if payment of the outstanding amount is not received within one month. 
 
Payment of Rates 
 
Council rates are billed quarterly in accordance with the Local Government Act 1999.  
The instalment due dates are proposed to be 4 September 2017, 4 December 2017, 5 
March 2018 and 4 June 2018. 
 
Council Rates may be paid by telephone, internet using the BPay through participating 
banks, by mail to PO Box 49, Pinnaroo SA 5304 and or in person or by EFTPOS using a 
savings or cheque account and or a credit card. 
 
The due dates for payments are shown on the front of the rate notice. Ratepayers unable 
to pay their rates by the quarterly billing due dates may apply to the Council to arrange 
an alternative payment option in accordance with Chapter 10 of the Local Government 
Act 1999. 
 
Discount for Early Payment of Rates 
 
The Council will provide a discount of 5% on the general rate only to any ratepayer who 
pays their rates in full by 4 September 2017. 
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Late Payment of Rates 
 
The Local Government Act provides that Councils impose a penalty of 2% on any 
payment for rates, whether instalment or otherwise, that is received late. 
 
A payment that continues to be late is then charged an interest rate, set each year 
according to a formula in the Act, for each month it continues to be late. 
 
The purpose of this penalty is to act as a genuine deterrent to ratepayers who might 
otherwise fail to pay their rates on time, to allow Councils to recover the administrative 
cost of following up unpaid rates and to cover any interest cost the Council may meet 
because it has not received the rates on time.   
 
The Council imposes late payment penalties strictly in accordance with the Local 
Government Act.   
 
The Council has adopted the following policies in respect of due dates and unpaid rates: 
 

 Payments received in the mail on the day after the last day nominated by the Council 
to pay any debt to the Council will be treated as being received on the last day 
nominated to pay any debt provided that the requirements of the requirements of the 
Interpretation Act are also considered where the last day to pay falls on a Saturday, 
Sunday, Public Holiday or Grace Day granted to employees by the Council, resulting 
from the Council’s offices being closed. 

 

 That Council do not remit fines raised on outstanding rates, unless for exceptional 
circumstances that may include circumstances as death, medical and health 
conditions.  

 

 When the Council receives a payment in respect of overdue rates the Council applies 
the money received as follows: 

 
Firstly, to satisfy any costs awarded in connection with court proceedings, and  
 
Secondly, to satisfy any interest costs, and  
 
Thirdly, in payment of any fines imposed, and  
 
Fourthly, in payment of rates, in date order of their imposition, starting with the oldest 
account first. 
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Amounts which will not be reclassified subsequently to operating 

result









Local Government 
(Financial Management) Regulations 2011.





 infrastructure, property, plant & equipment



Council is of the view that other than AASB 16 and AASB 1058, none of the above new standards or 
interpretations will affect any of the amounts recognised in the financial statements, but that they may 
impact certain information otherwise disclosed. 

Leases

Income of Not-for-Profit Entities





The functions to which these grants relate are shown in Note 12.

Sources of grants

Commonwealth government

State government

Other



Total Number of Employees 31                  34                  

          (Full time equivalent at end of reporting period)



Assets renewed or directly replaced



Aggregate write-downs and other losses recognised as an expense, and reversals of these, were
not material in amount in either year. All such reversals occurred principally as a result of clerical
inaccuracies during stores operations.





C
o

m
p

a
ra

ti
v
e
s

  
 8

4
,5

7
3
,2

4
8
 

  
 1

1
,5

7
3
,7

9
0
 

  
  

  
(4

1
,3

8
9
,4

5
2
)

  
 5

4
,7

5
7
,5

8
6
 

  
  

  
  

 8
9
,3

4
6
,2

3
3
 

  
 1

2
,7

7
9
,4

5
8
 

  
  

  
(3

9
,6

7
1
,9

2
8
)

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
6
2
,4

5
3
,7

6
3
 

T
h

is
 N

o
te

 c
o

n
ti
n

u
e

s
 o

n
 t

h
e

 f
o

llo
w

in
g

 p
a

g
e

s
.



C
o

m
p

a
ra

ti
v
e
s

  
 5

4
,7

5
7
,5

8
6
 

  
  

 1
,6

2
8
,4

9
6
 

  
  

 1
,7

3
0
,6

4
8
 

  
  

  
(1

4
5
,8

7
2
)

  
 (

2
,4

1
1
,1

2
3
)

  
  

 2
,5

2
1
,3

9
4
 

  
 (

2
,5

2
1
,3

9
4
)

  
  

 6
,8

9
4
,0

2
8
 

  
 6

2
,4

5
3
,7

6
3
 

T
h
is

 N
o
te

 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 o

n
 t

h
e
 f

o
llo

w
in

g
 p

a
g
e
s
.



Accounting procedure:  

Fair Value Measuremen

Highest and best use:  

Fair value hierarchy level 2 valuations:  

Fair value hierarchy level 3 valuations of land:  

Fair value hierarchy level 3 valuations of buildings, infrastructure and other assets:

Capitalisation thresholds



Estimated Useful Lives:  





All interest bearing liabilities are secured over the future revenues of the Council.



Comparatives 43,240,674 6,894,028 50,134,702

Comparatives 296,963 88,248 385,211

PURPOSES OF RESERVES











loans and receivables.







Adjustments to Ratios

Adjusted Operating Surplus Ratio 7.8% 10.4% 8.0%

Adjusted Net Financial Liabilities Ratio (27%) (7%) 27%

Net Financial Liabilities are defined as total liabilities less financial assets. These are expressed as a
percentage of total operating revenue.

Net asset renewals expenditure is defined as net capital expenditure on the renewal and replacement of
existing assets, and excludes new capital expenditure on the acquisition of additional assets.

This ratio expresses the operating surplus as a percentage of total operating revenue.

Information Paper 9 - Local Government Financial 
Indicators 

In recent years the Federal Government has made advance payments prior to 30th June from future year allocations of
financial assistance grants, as explained in Note 1. These Adjusted Ratios correct for the resulting distortion in key
ratios for each year and provide a more accurate basis for comparison.



(including investment property & real estate developments)

(including investment property and real estate developments)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

 

 

To the members of the Southern Mallee District Council 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

 

 

Opinion 

 

We have audited the accompanying financial report, being a general purpose financial report, of the Southern Mallee 

District Council (the Council), which comprises the Certification of Financial Statements on the annual statements 

giving a true and fair view of the financial position and performance, the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the 

Statement of Financial Position, the Statements of Changes in Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then 

ended 30 June 2018 and the notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 

information. 

 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Council is in accordance with the requirements of the Local 

Government Act 1999 and the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulation 2011, including; 

 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Council’s financial position as at 30 June 2018 and of its performance 

and cash flows for the year then ended; and 

(ii) that the financial records kept by the Council are such as to enable financial statements to be prepared 

in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. 

 

 

Basis for Opinion 

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards 

are further described as in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  section of our report. 

We are independent of the Council in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the ethical 

requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 

Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our 

other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.   

 

 

Responsibilities of the Chief Executive Officer for the Financial Report 

 

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report  in 

accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations), the Local 

Government Act 1999 and the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 2011. This responsibility 

includes determining that the basis of preparation described in Note 1 is appropriate to meet the need of the 

members. The Chief Executive Officer’s responsibility also includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal 

controls relevant to enable the preparation of the financial report to be free from material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error.  

 

In preparing the financial report, the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for assessing the Council’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern 
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basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Council or to cease operations, or has no 

realistic alternative but to do so.   

 

The Chief Executive Officer of the Council is responsible for overseeing the Council’s financial reporting process.  

 

 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that the audit conducted in accordance with the Australian 

Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 

error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 

the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and 

maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

 

· Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is suffic ient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 

from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

· Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 

of the Council’s internal control. 

· Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by management. 

· Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going concern  basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 

that may cast significant doubt on the Council’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 

material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 

disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 

events or conditions may cause the Council to cease to continue as a going concern. 

· Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, 

and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 

achieves fair presentation. 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 

of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 

during our audit. 

 

 

DEAN NEWBERY & PARTNERS 

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 

 

 
 

JIM KEOGH 

PARTNER 

 

Signed on the 27th day of November 2018, 

at 214 Melbourne Street, North Adelaide 
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INDEPENDENT ASSURANCE REPORT ON THE INTERNAL CONTROLS OF THE SOUTHERN MALLEE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

 

We have audited the Internal Controls of the Southern Mallee District Council (Council) under the requirements of 

Section 129(1)(b) of the Local Government Act 1999 in relation only to the Internal Controls established by the Council 

to ensure that financial transactions relating to the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, acquisition and 

disposal of property and incurring of liabilities for the period 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018 have been conducted properly 

and in accordance with law.  

 

 

The Council’s Responsibility for the Internal Controls  

 
The Council is responsible for implementing and maintaining an adequate system of internal controls, in accordance 

with Section 125 of the Local Government Act 1999 to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, 

the acquisition and disposal of property, and incurring of liabilities have been conducted properly and in accordance 

with law. 

 

 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Council’s compliance with Section 129(1)(b) of the Local Government 

Act 1999 in relation only to the Internal Controls established by the Council to ensure that financial transactions 

relating to the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, acquisition and disposal of property and incurring of 

liabilities, based on our procedures have been conducted properly and in accordance with law. Our engagement has 

been conducted in accordance with applicable Australian Standards on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3100 

Compliance Engagements, issued by the Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, in order to state 

whether, in all material respects, the Council has complied with Section 125 of the Local Government Act 1999 in 

relation only to the Internal Controls specified above for the period 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018. ASAE 3100 also 

requires us to comply with the relevant ethical requirements of the Australian professional accounting bodies.   

 

Our procedures included obtaining an understanding of controls in relation to the receipt, expenditure and investment 

of money, the acquisition and disposal of property and the incurring of liabilities, evaluating management's 

assessment of these controls, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design 

of controls on a sample basis based on the assessed risks.  

 

 

Limitation on Use 

 
This report has been prepared for the members of the Council in accordance with Section 129(1)(b) of the Local 

Government Act 1999 in relation to the Internal Controls specified above.  We disclaim any assumption of 

responsibility for any reliance on this report to any persons or users other than the members of the Council,  or for any 

purpose other than that for which it was prepared.   
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Limitations of Controls  

Because of the inherent limitations of any internal control structure it is possible that, even if the controls are suitably 

designed and operating effectively, the control objectives may not be achieved so that fraud, error, or non-compliance 

with laws and regulations may occur and not be detected.  

An assurance engagement on internal controls is not designed to detect all instances of controls operating ineffectively 

as it is not performed continuously throughout the period and the tests performed are on a sample basis. Any 

projection of the outcome of the evaluation of controls to future periods is subject to the risk that the controls may 

become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with them may deteriorate.  

 

 

Independence 

 
In conducting our engagement, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Australian professional 

accounting bodies.  

 

 

Opinion 

 
In our opinion, the Council has complied, in all material respects, with Section 129(1)(b) of the Local Government Act 

1999 in relation to Internal Controls established by the Council relating to the receipt, expenditure and investment of 

money, acquisition and disposal of property and incurring of liabilities so as to provide reasonable assurance that the 

financial transactions of the Council have been conducted properly and in accordance with law for the period 1 July 

2017 to 30 June 2018. 

 

 

DEAN NEWBERY & PARTNERS 

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 

 

 
 

JIM KEOGH 

PARTNER 

 
Signed on the 27th day of November 2018 

at 214 Melbourne Street, North Adelaide, South Australia, 5006 

 

 

 

 

 





 

 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standard Legislation 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Certification of Auditor’s Independence  

 

 

 

I confirm that, for the audit of the financial statements of the Southern Mallee District Council for the 

year ended 30 June 2018, I have maintained my independence in accordance with the requirements 

of APES 110 – Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, Section 290, published by the Accounting 

Professional and Ethical Standards Board, in accordance with the Local Government Act 1999 and the 

Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 2011 made under that Act.  

 

This statement is prepared in accordance with the requirements of Regulation 22 (5) Local 

Government (Financial Management) Regulations 2011. 

 

 

 

 
 

JIM KEOGH 

Partner 

 

 

DEAN NEWBERY & PARTNERS      

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS      

 

 

Dated this 27th day of November 2018  

 

 

 



 

Southern Mallee District Council 
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The past year has been extraordinarily busy and productive for the 
Murraylands and Riverland Local Government Association (MRLGA). 

Our purpose remains staunchly focused on providing effective representation 
for local government and communities at regional, state and federal level in 
support of our Constituent Councils by sharing information, facilitating debate 
and influencing government policy through partnerships and advocacy.  

This document represents the Annual Report of the Murraylands and Riverland 
Local Government Association (MRLGA)  for the period 1st July 2017 to 30th 

June 2018.  

This report must be submitted to the Constituent Councils by 31st October in 
each Financial Year in accordance with the MRLGA Charter on the work and 
operations of the Subsidiary.  

The report details the achievements of the MRLGA against its strategic 
objectives and incorporates the audited Financial Statements of the Subsidiary 
and any other information or reports required by the Constituent Councils. 

This report also details the activities of the Association to represent and serve 
our Constituent Councils and to advance the Murraylands and Riverland 
communities through effective advocacy, facilitation and innovation. 

 

The Annual Report articulates clearly the alignment of the Subsidiary with is 
role of Leadership, Advocacy, Regional Capacity Building and Collaborative 
Partnerships. The MRLGA represents engaged and informed member 
Councils, our board members apply rigorous principles of management and 
governance and our stakeholders value the disciplined representation of the 
Association.          

  
 

Mayor Dave Burgess   Peter Bond 

MRLGA President   MRLGA Chief Executive Officer 
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MRLGA ANNUAL REPORT SUMMARY 2017-2018 

The MRLGA Board is  pleased to provide the Murraylands and 
Riverland Local Government Association (MRLGA) Annual Report on 
the work and operations of the Subsidiary for the financial year 
2017-2018 in accordance with Clause 28,  Schedule 2 of the Local 
Government Act (1999).  

Our vision is to be ‘a successful region led by progressive and 
responsive local governments’ and our ability to deliver this vision 
has been enhanced significantly through the year with the release of the 
MRLGA’s updated Strategic Plan 2016-2020. Our way forward will focus 
predominantly in the formation of partnerships that will add strength to 
the resolution of regional issues and provide for the most effective 
mechanisms to deliver regional programs. 

The MRLGA Board has represented its Constituent Councils on a 
range of issues pertinent to our region. Such issues have included in 
part, Local/State Government Reform, advocating for the 
implementation of the Murray-Darling Basin Plan, Planning Reform, 
abolition of Rubble Royalties, the Community Wellbeing program, the 
fight against rate capping and as a Board member on the Grants 
Commission. 

The MRLGA  Board  looks forward  to  realising the opportunities that 
are available to our dynamic region. With the new State Government 
having local reform firmly in their sights this is a time for mature heads 
and strategic partnerships when making the critical decisions that will 
grow our region.  

In closing the MRLGA Board sincerely thanks all constituent Councils 
and key partners for the role they have played in delivering a range of 
programs and projects over the last 12-months.  The Board would 
particularly like to thank our CEO, Peter Bond for his commitment and 
support provided to me and the Association over the past year; in 
particular the role he took in leading a range of strategic projects vital to 
the social and economic wellbeing of our flourishing region. 

Murraylands & Riverland Local Government Association (MRLGA) 
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 ROLE OF THE MRLGA 

The Murraylands and Riverland Local Government Association is comprised of the following Constituent Councils:  

• Berri Barmera Council  
• Coorong District Council  
• District Council of Karoonda East Murray  
• District Council of Loxton Waikerie  

• Mid Murray Council  
• Rural City of Murray Bridge  
• Renmark Paringa Council, and  
• Southern Mallee District Council  

The Murraylands and Riverland Local Government Association Strategic Plan 2016 - 2020 responds not only to the strategic needs and obje’ctives of its 
8 Constituent Councils, but also to a number of key strategies including States Seven Strategic Priorities, the LGA’s Strategic Plan, the RDAs Regional 
Roadmap and the SA MDBNRM Board’s Strategic and Business Plans. 

Executive Officer services for the Association for the year were again provided by Peter Bond under a contract 
arrangement. In accordance with a resolution of Member Council Delegates, the Chief Executive Officer is 
subject to ongoing performance review with the Association. 

The Annual Report articulates clearly the alignment of the Subsidiary with is role and purpose as outlined below; 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Role MRLGA will provide for …

Leadership and Advocacy 
• Initiate action and lead regional activity 
• Set the agenda and direction 
• Represent the region, and pursue outcomes on behalf of the Constituent 

Councils and the region

Capacity Building

• Work with member Councils to build capacity and increase 
sustainability 

• Provide for integrated and coordinated regional collaboration for 
Constituent Councils 

• Act as the central organisation for shared Local Government 
responsibilities 

• Join with other stakeholders to deliver a service or project

Continuous Improvement • Facilitate continuous improvement for our Constituent Councils

Collaborative Partnerships • Join with other stakeholders to build the capacity of the region

OUR VISION 

A successful region led by 
progressive and responsive 
local governments. issues and 
projects and the lobbying for the 
benefit of our regional 
communities.

OUR MISSION 

To provide an effective and 
efficient regional organisation, 
facilitating the coordination of 
Local Government resources, 
the fostering of partnership 
approaches to regional issues 
and projects and the lobbying for 
the benefit of our regional 
communities.



  MURRAYLANDS AND RIVERLAND LGA IN PROFILE  

The Murraylands and Riverland Region covers over 36,000 kilometres2 (third largest region in South Australia) spanning eight Constituent Councils. It is 
home to around 69,000 people and some 5,000 businesses. The major economic output is primary production accounting for 34% of all GRP 
generated, 20% of jobs and 15% of household incomes. Our region has the highest proportion of agriculture dependence for any region in South 
Australia.


The Murraylands and Riverland Local Government Association (MRLGA) operates as a 
Regional Subsidiary under the provisions of the Local Government Act 1999. 

MRLGA is composed of eight Constituent Councils from within the region as outlined in 
Figure 1. As a Regional Subsidiary the Association has as its governing document a 
Charter as provided for under the Local Government Act 1999 which came into 
effect on 13th December 2001.  

The MRLGA Charter identifies a broad range of roles to deliver the objectives of the 
Association. Given our limited resources, it is necessary to closely define the role of 
MRLGA in delivering the five regional strategies. The Charter defines the Association’s role 
as follows; 

To undertake coordinating, advocacy and representational roles for its 
constituent Councils at a regional level 
To facilitate and coordinate activities of local government at a regional level on 
behalf of our constituent Councils. 
To develop, encourage, promote, foster and maintain consultation and 
cooperation and to strengthen the representation and status of local government 
To develop further cooperation between its constituent Councils for the benefit of 
the communities in the region. 
To develop and manage policies which guide the conduct of programs and 
projects in the region  
To undertake projects that benefit the region and its communities 

The Charter requires the MRLGA to prepare a Strategic Plan every three (3) years. This 
Strategic Plan sets the activities and outcomes for the work of the MRLGA for the financial year 2016-2017. The direction of the Association is now 
governed by the current Strategic Plan 2016–2020 adopted by the MRLGA Board in April 2016 and identifies the Subsidiaries' Vision, Mission, 
Commitment and Role over the next 5-years. 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  THE MRLGA BOARD 

The MRLGA Board comprises representatives from each of the Constituent Councils and is chaired by the 
MRLGA President. Historically each Constituent Council could nominate up to two voting members to the 
Board. At the General Meeting of the Subsidiary held on 9th December 2015 the Board resolved to reduce 
voting representation at MRLGA Board meetings to one vote per Council (being a total of eight voting 
delegates).  

All voting delegates shall be the Mayor of each Council and proxy representatives shall be Council Members 
with CEO’s encouraged to attend as observers. This will ultimately require amendment of the Subsidiary’s 
Charter under Clause 4.2 Membership of the Board where it states; 
  

“the Board shall consist of two (2) persons from each Constituent Council appointed by the Constituent 
Council and each Constituent Council shall, following every periodic Local Government election, appoint, 
and give notice in writing to the Chief Executive Officer of the Subsidiary, of those persons who are its 
Board members, of whom one shall be an elected member of the Constituent Council and one may be the 
Chief Executive Officer or other officer of the Constituent Council.” 

MRLGA Board Members for 2017-2018 

Mayor Dave Burgess, Mid Murray Council was re-elected President at the Annual General Meeting held at Karoonda on 14th July 2017 and Mayor Peter 
Hunt, Berri Barmera Council was re-elected Vice President both for a full annual term of office. 

Council Voting Delegate Non-Voting Proxy Delegate

Berri Barmera Council Mayor Peter Hunt - Vice President Cr Andrew Kassebaum, Deputy Mayor

Coorong District Council Mayor Neville Jaensch Cr Sharon Bland, Deputy Mayor

District Council of Karoonda East Murray Mayor Kevin Burdett Cr Caroline Phillips, Deputy Mayor

District Council of Loxton Waikerie Mayor Leon Stazinowski Cr Michael Vowles, Deputy Mayor

Mid Murray Council Mayor Dave Burgess - President Cr Kelly Kuhn, Deputy Mayor

Rural City of Murray Bridge Mayor Brenton Lewis Cr Theo Weinmann, Deputy Mayor

Renmark Paringa Council Mayor Neil Martinson Cr Peter Hunter, Deputy Mayor

Southern Mallee District Council Mayor Andrew Grieger Cr Neville Pfeiffer, Deputy Mayor
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  MRLGA DELEGATES TO THE LGA SA 

Under the Constitution of the Local Government Association of South Australia (LGA SA) regions are represented via appointed members to serve on 
the LGA Board and the South Australian Regional Organisation of Councils (SAROC).  

MRLGA delegates appointed to the LGA Board are; 

• Mayor Dave Burgess MMC (President & LGA Immediate Past President) 

• Mayor Peter Hunt BBC (LGA Vice President) 
 

• Mayor Neville Jaensch CDC 

• Mayor Brenton Lewis RCMB Deputy Member 

MRLGA delegates appointed to SAROC include 

• Mayor Dave Burgess MMC (President & LGA Immediate Past President)  

• Mayor Peter Hunt BBC (LGA Vice President)  

• Mayor Neville Jaensch CDC (Proxy) 

• Mayor Brenton Lewis RCMB Deputy Member 

• Mr Peter Bond Chief Executive Officer 

The South Australian Regional Organisation of Councils (SAROC) is an important committee of the LGA that focuses on key issues affecting regional 
Councils. Membership is drawn from each of the six non-metropolitan Regional Local Government Associations with members meeting bi-monthly to 
discuss key issues affecting non-metropolitan Councils. 

The MRLGA supports the Governance process by contributing to agenda items for SAROC meetings, the distribution of Key Outcomes Statements of 
meetings to MRLGA Board meetings and by providing collegiate support to prepare submissions on behalf of regional and rural Councils that included 
continued lobbying and input into the ongoing review of the business plans, administrative fee and levy proposals of the Natural Resource Management 
lobbying in relation to legislative changes, Boundary Reform, Youth Traineeships, Community Wellbeing, Road Safety, Waste Management and 
Decentralisation/Regional Population Growth, to name a few.
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  ASSOCIATION COMMITTEES AND WORKING PARTIES  

The following outlines representation on MRLGA Committee’s and Working Parties to the 30th June, 2018:  
  

Murray River Alliance SA 
• President, Mayor Dave Burgess, Mid Murray Council (ex-officio). 
• Peter Bond, CEO MRLGA 

Murraylands and Riverland (previously Murray and Mallee) Local Government Association Regional Transport Strategy Committee:  
• Mayor Neil Martinson, Renmark Paringa Council, Chair (by virtue of position held) 
• President, Mayor David Burgess, Mid Murray Council (President, Mayor Dave 

Burgess, Mid Murray Council (ex-officio) 
• Peter Bond, CEO MRLGA 
• Geoff Meaney, Manager Infrastructure Planning, Renmark Paringa Council 
• Greg Perry, Manager Infrastructure Services, Berri Barmera Council 
• Greg Hill, Director, Infrastructure, Mid Murray Council. (Russell Pilbeam - proxy) 
• Tim Tol, Director of Infrastructure, District Council of Loxton Waikerie, (Domenic 

Perre - proxy)   
• Matthew Morgan, CEO, District Council of Karoonda East Murray  
• Simon Bradley, GM Infrastructure and Environment, Rural City of Murray Bridge 

(Matt James - proxy) 
• Matthew Sherman, Works Manger, Southern Mallee District Council 
• David Mosel, Director Infrastructure and Assets, Coorong District Council 
• Jo Podoliak, Chief Executive, Regional Development Australia - Murraylands and 

Riverland 

Murray and Mallee Zone Emergency Management Committee:  
• Deputy Mayor Kevin Myers, Mid Murray Council, Chair. 
• President, Mayor Dave Burgess, Mid Murray Council (ex-officio).  
• Mayor Peter Hunt, Berri Barmera Council. 
• Michael Sedgman, CEO, Rural City of Murray Bridge (Ros Kruger – Proxy). 
• David Beaton, Berri Barmera Council (Veronica Rothe - Proxy) 
• Tim Tol, Director Infrastructure Services, District Council of Loxton Waikerie. 
• David Mosel, Director Infrastructure and Assets, Coorong District Council. 
• Tony Secomb, Manager Corporate Services (seconded), Southern Mallee District Council. 
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Murraylands and Riverland CEO’s Network Group:  
• Tony Siviour, CEO, Renmark Paringa Council, 
• Michael Sedgman, CEO, Rural City of Murray Bridge, 
• Russell Peate, CEO, Mid Murray Council, 
• Mia Dohnt, CEO, Southern Mallee District Council, 
• Peter Ackland, District Council of Loxton Waikerie, 
• David Beaton, CEO, Berri Barmera Council. 
• Vince Cammell, CEO, Coorong District Council 
• Peter Smithson, CEO, District Council of Karoonda East Murray 
• Peter Bond, CEO, MRLGA 

Murraylands and Riverland Regional Public Health Plan Committee:  
• President, Mayor Dave Burgess, Mid Murray Council (ex-officio).  
• Katina Nikas, EHO, Renmark Paringa Council, Chairperson 
• Caroline Thomas, EHO, Coorong District Council, 
• Tom McKellar, EHO, Mid Murray Council, 
• Myles Somers, Manager Environmental Services, Berri Barmera Council, 
• Rebecca Burton, EHO, Berri Barmera Council, 
• Vacant, Southern Mallee District Council and District Council of Karoonda East Murray, 
• Reg Buderick, Rural City of Murray Bridge,  
• Phil Eckert, Team Leader Regulation, Rural City of Murray Bridge, 
• Jeremy Byrnes, EHO, Rural City of Murray Bridge, 
• Dara Clayton, EHO, District Council of Loxton Waikerie, 
• Peter Bond, CEO, MRLGA 
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  ASSOCIATION MEETINGS 

During 2017-2018, the Association met on four occasions on:  
• 14th July  2017 - Annual General Meeting - District Council of Karoonda East Murray Council Offices, 11 Railway Terrace, Karoonda, 
• 16th October  2016 - General Meeting - Berri Barmera Council, 19 Wilson Street, Berri, 
• 17th January 2017 - General Meeting - Coorong District Council, 95-101 Railway Terrace, Tailem Bend, 
• 6th April 2018 - General Meeting - District Council of Karoonda East Murray Council Offices, 11 Railway Terrace, Karoonda March 2017, 
• 31st May 2018 - Special Meeting - Rural City of Murray Bridge Council Offices, Murray Bridge 

All Association Meetings, including Committee Meetings Agendas and Minutes are available for viewing and or downloading from the Association’s 
website at www.mmlga.sa.gov.au  

A number of guest speakers and attendees have made presentations/addresses to the Association meetings throughout the year. They include:  

• Emma Bradbury Chief Executive Officer, Murray Darling Association Inc  
• Karen Raffen and Ruby Hannam, Brand SA  

Representatives of the LGA SA, RDA MR, SA MDB NRM, SAPOL and PIRSA 
attended each meeting and took the opportunity to brief the Association of the 
relevant matters being addressed by their respective bodies.  

We acknowledge the support of the CEO of the LGA, Matt Pinnegar, Jo 
Podoliak, CEO, RDA Murraylands and Riverland, Sharon Starick SA MDB NRM 
Board Presiding Member, James Blandford, SAPOL and Tim Smythe/Barb 
Cowey, PIRSA/Regions SA who have been ready to assist the region and 
ensure a presence at our meetings.  

The Association has also enjoyed a close working relationship with its State and 
Federal Members of Parliament, a number of whom have been regular 
attendees at our meetings.  

The President has continued the practice of giving each of our guests the 
opportunity to address our meetings briefly about matters and issues before 
them that may be of interest to the Association and Member Councils. The 
contribution from all of the speakers, presenters and guests has kept the 
Association and the Delegates abreast of a wide range of issues that impact on 
Local Government and the communities in the Region. 
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  STRATEGIC ACTIVITIES 2017-2018 

The Subsidiary undertakes a coordinating role, in conjunction with Constituent Councils on their issues and those raised by the Local Government 
Association of South Australia, the community and other key stakeholders.  

State and Federal Members of Parliament representing our Region continue to be briefed both individually and through invitations to attend our quarterly 
meetings. 

Submissions and briefings undertaken during the reporting period include:  

• Inquiry into National Freight and Supply Chain Priorities, July 2017 - provided a submission responding to the Australia Government’s “Inquiry 
into National Freight and Supply Chain Priorities” Discussion Paper released in May 2017, 

• Inquiry into Regional Development and Decentralisation, November 2017 -  Provided evidence to the Select Committee on Regional 
Development and Decentralisation in support of the need for Decentralisation and proactive Regional Development across regional SA. 

• Murray-Darling Basin Royal Commission To Investigate The Operations And Effectiveness Of The Murray-Darling Basin System, April 2018 
- Provided a submission to the Murray-Darling Basin Royal Commission for the purpose of investigating the operations and effectiveness of the 
Murray-Darling Basin system.  

The CEO MRLGA has also attended Forums, Workshops and Briefings throughout the year regarding evolving issues and to make contribution on 
behalf of the Association 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Key Project Activities for 2017-18 

• Regional Roads Freight Movement Study - The purpose of the Regional Roads Freight Movement Study was to identify the benefits and costs of 
upgrading key roads within the Region to cater for increased demands and larger vehicle types (Double Road Train and B-Triple vehicles). These 
benefits and costs would then be used in the development of business cases to obtain funding for the required road improvements. 

• Regional Commodity Route Network HVRA and Risk Analysis - Partnering member Councils in carrying out Network Level Heavy Vehicle Route 
Assessment and Risk Analysis’ of B-Double Commodity Routes. The MRLGA co-funded constituent Council route assessment based on the 
application of criteria.  

• Regional Road Action Plans and 2018 SLRP Roads Database Update - The MRLGA engages HDS Australia Pty Ltd to provide that level of service 
at a variable fee for service depending on the extent of work involved. The data generated is used for the development of SLRP funding application 
priorities for 2017-18. This also included submitting SLRP Funding on behalf of member Councils for adopted priorities for the 2017-2018 SLRP 
program and referring to the LGTAP for funding.  

• Regional Sport and Recreation Facilities Needs Review - Tredwell Management were appointed to deliver this project through the 2016/2017 and 
2017/2018 financial years. 

• Regional Waste Management Strategy BCA - This project sort to identify opportunities for greater collaboration between member Councils in the 
planning and delivery of waste management services.  

• One River Murray Authority Governing Structure - the Murray River SA Alliance initiated a review of governance structures over the South 
Australian section of the River Murray. 

• Murray and Mallee Zone Emergency Management Committee (ZEMC) - continued to represent the Local Government sector on matters relating to 
Emergency Management and assisted the LGA in the inception of LGFS needs. 

• Regional Public Health and Wellbeing Plan - As required under the Act, the Association’s Regional Public Health Plan report to SA Health has been 
compiled and submitted by the Association’s Regional Public Health Plan Committee. That committee provided for the implementation and monitoring 
of a Regional Public Health Plan for MRLGA, held working group meetings and liaised with LGA Public Health Program Manager.The Committee met 
on 26/07/2017, 2/11/2017, 24/01/2018, 8/03/2018, 15/05/2018 

• Legal Charter Review - During the course of the year a review of the MRLGA Charter was carried out (as may be required by new regulations arising 
from review of Local Government Act 1999). The review of the MRLGA Charter is also required as a consequence of the Strategic Review conducted 
in 2015-2016.  

• Asset Planning Business Case Analysis (BCA) - a project is an initiative of the Murraylands and Riverland Local Government Association 
(MRLGA). It seeks to identify opportunities for greater collaboration between member Councils in meeting their asset management obligations.  

• NS Freight Route Review - The MRLGA have partnered with S&HLGA and the RDA’s in the Northern Freight Bypass project to consider the cost and 
benefits of a realigned Hills rail freight bypass from Tailem Bend/Monarto North through to the Sturt Highway. This study will inform the new State 
Government GlobelinkSA project. This project required attendance at Northern Freight Bypass Working Group meetings 19/10/2017, 8/02/2018, 
27/04/2018, 2/05/2018  
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  FINANCES

The Annual Business Plan for each year balances the objective of ensuring the MRLGA’s long-term financial sustainability whilst increasing investment 
in key projects and preparing for future development and improvement opportunities.  

Income for the Murraylands & Riverland Local Government Association is derived from three main sources:  

1. Subscriptions from Constituent Councils of MRLGA; 
2. Funding from the LGA SA for Regional Capacity Building, Outreach Services, Rubble Royalties and R&D Projects; and 
3. Project funding through partnerships with external organisations. 

A small amount of income is derived from interest and project management fees.  

Annual expenditure is divided between two main areas:  

1. Operating – expenditure required to employ a Chief Executive Officer, and general costs for administration,  Board expenses and other general 
operating expenses; 

2. Projects – expenditure required to deliver specific projects, including where applicable the engagement of external resources.  
                                            
Financial reports are considered by the MRLGA Board at each meeting. The Audited Financial Statements for 2017-2018 are included in Appendix 1 of 
this report.  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Peter Bond
CEO
Murray and Mallee Local Government Association
PO Box 236
Victor Harbor
SA 5211

Dear Mr Bond

Re: Financial Statements Audit - 2017/18

We have recently completed our audit of the financial statements and internal
controls of the Murray and Mallee Local Government Association and intend to
issue an unmodified report for both the financial statements and internal
controls opinion as per the attached draft opinion.

Australian Auditing Standards require us to advise all Immaterial Uncorrected
Misstatements found during the audit. There are no Immaterial Uncorrected
Misstatements to be reported.

Yours faithfully,

Tim Muhlhausler CA Registered Company Auditor
Partner

GALPINS ACCOUNTANTS, AUDITORS & BUSINESS CONSULTANTS

4/10/2018
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Murray and Mallee Local Government Association

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Note 2018 2017
$ $

Income
MBM LGA Contributions 2 158,665        152,394       
Other Grants & Contributions 2 257,518        324,185       
Interest Revenue 2 4,689            2,904           

Total Revenue 420,872        479,483       

Operating Expenses 3 (277,094)       (255,693)      

Surplus (deficit) for the year 143,778        223,790       
Total Comprehensive Profit (Loss) 143,778        223,790       

The accompanying Notes form part of these financial statements
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Murray and Mallee Local Government Association

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2018

Note 2018 2017
$ $

Assets

Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 4 435,692        426,824        
Trade and other receivables 5 148,706        11,729          
Total Current Assets 584,398        438,553        

Total Assets 584,398        438,553        

Liabilities

Current Liabilities 2,066            
Trade and other payables 6 14,384          12,318          

Total Current Liabilities 14,384          12,318          

Total Liabilities 14,384          12,318          

Net Assets 570,014        426,235        

Member's Funds
Unspent funds reserve 7 -                (76,220)         
Accumulated surplus 7 570,014        502,456        
Total Members Funds 570,014        426,235        

The accompanying Notes form part of these financial statements
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Murray and Mallee Local Government Association

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN MEMBER'S FUNDS
AS AT 30 JUNE 2018

Note
Accumulated 

Surplus

Unspent 
funds 

reserve Total
$ $ $

2018

Balance at the beginning of the year 7 502,456         (76,220)      426,236        
Surplus for the year 143,778         -             143,778        
Transfers (76,220)          76,220       -                

Balance at the end of year 570,014         -             570,014        

2017

Balance at the beginning of the year 7 157,342         45,104       202,446        
Surplus for the year 223,790         -             223,790        
Transfers 121,324         (121,324)    -                

Balance at the end of year 502,456         (76,220)      426,326        

The accompanying Notes form part of these financial statements
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Murray and Mallee Local Government Association

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Note 2018 2017
$ $

Cash from operating activities
Receipts from grants 257,518        324,185        
Receipts from members 158,665        152,394        
Interest received 4,689            2,904            
less increase in debtors (136,977)       (8,090)           
Payments to suppliers (277,094)       (255,693)       
add increase in payables 2,066            (942)              

Net cash provided from operating activities 8 8,868            214,758        

Net increase in cash held 8,868            214,757        
Cash at beginning of financial year 426,824        212,067        

Cash at end of financial year 4 435,692        426,824        

The accompanying Notes form part of these financial statements

5



Murray and Mallee Local Government Association

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Note 1: Statement of Significant Accounting Policies

(c) Income taxes 
The activities of the Association are exempt from taxation under the Income Tax Assessment Act
1997.

(d) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of
GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. In these circumstances the GST is
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.
Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST.

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including Australian Accounting Interpretations) and 
the Local Government Act (1999). The association is a not-for-profit entity for financial reporting 
purposes under Australian Accounting Standards.

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result 
in financial statements containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and 
conditions to which they apply. Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial 
statements are presented below and have been consistently applied unless stated otherwise.

The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accruals basis 
and are based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of 
selected noncurrent assets, financial assets and financial liabilities. The amounts presented in the 
financial statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar.

The financial statements were authorised for issue on by the members of the committee.

(b) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at-call with banks, other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the statement of financial position.

(a) Comparatives 
When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes 
in presentation for the current financial year.

Where the association has retrospectively applied an accounting policy, made a retrospective 
restatement or reclassified items in its financial statements, an additional statement of financial position 
as at the beginning of the earliest comparative period will be disclosed.
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Murray and Mallee Local Government Association

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

(e) Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that the 
association commits itself to either purchase or sell the asset (i.e. trade date accounting is adopted}.

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs except where the 
instruments classified "at fair value through profit or loss", in which case transaction costs are expensed 
to profit or loss immediately.

Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial instruments are subsequently measured at fair value, amortised cost using the effective
interest method, or cost. Fair value represents the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or 
aliability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties. Where available, quoted prices in an active 
market are used to determine fair value. In other circumstances, valuation techniques are adopted.

Amortised cost is calculated as the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured 
at initial recognition less principal repayments and any reduction for impairment, and adjusted for any 
cumulative amortisation of the difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount calculated 
using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is used to allocate interest income or interest expense over the relevant 
period and is equivalent to the rate that discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts (including 
fees, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) over the expected life (or when this cannot be 
reliably predicted, the contractual term} of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the 
financial asset or financial liability. Revisions to expected future net cash flows will necessitate an 
adjustment to the carrying amount with a consequential recognition of income or expense in profit or loss.

The association does not designate any interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint venture entities as 
being subject to the requirements of Accounting Standards specifically applicable to financial 
instruments.

(i) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Gains or losses  
are recognised in profit or loss through the amortisation process and when the financial asset is 
derecognised.

(ii) Financial liabilities

Non-derivative financial liabilities other than financial guarantees are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost. Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss through the amortisation process and 
when the financial liability is derecognised.
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Murray and Mallee Local Government Association

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Impairment

At the end of each reporting period, the association assesses whether there is objective evidence 
that a financial asset has been impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed 
to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more 
events (a "loss event") that has occurred, which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows 
of the financial asset(s).

In the case of available-for-sale financial assets, a significant or prolonged decline in the market 
value of the instrument is considered to constitute a loss event. Impairment losses are recognised 
in profit or loss immediately. Also, any cumulative decline in fair value previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss at this point.

In the case of financial assets carried at amortised cost, loss events may include indications that 
the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or 
delinquency in interest or principal payments, indications that they will enter bankruptcy or other 
financial re-organisation and changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with 
defaults.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost (including loans and receivables), a separate 
allowance account is used to reduce the carrying amount of financial assets impaired by credit 
losses. After having taken all possible measures of recovery, if the management establishes that 
the carrying amount cannot be recovered by any means, at that point the writing off amounts are 
charged to the allowance account or the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is reduced 
directly if no impairment amount was previously recognised in the allowance accounts.

When the terms of financial assets that would otherwise have been past due or impaired have 
been renegotiated, the association recognises the impairment for such financial assets by taking 
into account the original terms as if the terms have not been renegotiated so that the loss events 
that have occurred are duly considered.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual right to receipt of cash flows expires or 
the asset is transferred to another party, whereby the entity no longer has any significant 
continuing involvement in the risks and benefits associated with the asset. Financial liabilities are 
derecognised where the related obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. The difference 
between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party 
and the fair value of consideration paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities 
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss. 

(f) Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the association assesses whether there is any indication that 
an asset may be impaired. The assessment will consider both external and internal sources of 
information. If such an indication exists, an impairment test is carried out on the asset by 
comparing the recoverable amount of that asset, being the higher of the asset's fair value less 
costs to sell and its value-in-use, to the asset's carrying amount. Any excess of the asset's carrying 
amount over its recoverable amount is immediately recognised in profit or loss. 

Where the future economic benefits of the asset are not primarily dependent upon the asset's 
ability to generate net cash inflows and when the entity would, if deprived of the asset, replace its 
remaining future economic benefits, value in use is determined as the depreciated replacement 
cost of an asset where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, 
the association estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset 
belongs.
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Murray and Mallee Local Government Association

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Where an impairment loss on a revalued asset is identified, this is recognised against the 
revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of asset to the extent that the impairment loss 
does not exceed the amount in the revaluation surplus for that class of asset.

(g) Revenue

Non-reciprocal grant revenue is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when the 
association obtains control of the grant and it is probable that the economic benefits gained from 
the grant will flow to the association and the amount of the grant can be measured reliably.

If conditions are attached to the grant which must be satisfied before it is eligible to receive the 
contribution, the recognition of the grant as revenue will be deferred until those conditions are 
satisfied. When grant revenue is received whereby the association incurs an obligation to deliver 
economic value directly back to the contributor, this is considered a reciprocal transaction and the 
grant revenue is recognised in the statement of financial position as a liability until the service has 
been delivered to the contributor, otherwise the grant is recognised as income on receipt.

Revenue from membership subscriptions are recognised as income in proportion to the stage of 
completion of the transaction at the reporting date. The stage of completion is determined by 
reference to the membership year.

Revenue from the rendering of a service is recognised upon the delivery of the service to the 
customer. 

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method, which for floating rate financial 
assets is the rate inherent in the instrument.

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).

(h) Trade and other payables

Accounts payable and other payables represent the liability outstanding at the end of the reporting 
period for goods and services received by the association during the reporting period that remain 
unpaid. The balance is recognised as a current liability with the amounts normally paid within 30 
days of recognition of the liability.

(i) Trade and other receivables

These include amounts due from ATO and accrued interest on deposits in financial institutions. 
Receivables expected to be collected within 12 months of the end of the reporting period are 
classified as current assets. All other receivables are classified as non-current assets. 

Accounts receivable are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less any provision for impairment.

(j) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments 

Key estimates

           (i) Impairment - general

The association assesses impairment at the end of each reporting period by evaluation of 
conditions and events specific to the association that may be indicative of impairment triggers. 
Recoverable amounts of relevant assets are reassessed using value-in-use calculations which 
incorporate various key assumptions.

Impairment

At the end of each reporting period, the association assesses whether there is objective evidence 
that a financial asset has been impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed 
to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more 
events (a "loss event") that has occurred, which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows 
of the financial asset(s).

In the case of available-for-sale financial assets, a significant or prolonged decline in the market 
value of the instrument is considered to constitute a loss event. Impairment losses are recognised 
in profit or loss immediately. Also, any cumulative decline in fair value previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss at this point.

In the case of financial assets carried at amortised cost, loss events may include indications that 
the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or 
delinquency in interest or principal payments, indications that they will enter bankruptcy or other 
financial re-organisation and changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with 
defaults.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost (including loans and receivables), a separate 
allowance account is used to reduce the carrying amount of financial assets impaired by credit 
losses. After having taken all possible measures of recovery, if the management establishes that 
the carrying amount cannot be recovered by any means, at that point the writing off amounts are 
charged to the allowance account or the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is reduced 
directly if no impairment amount was previously recognised in the allowance accounts.

When the terms of financial assets that would otherwise have been past due or impaired have 
been renegotiated, the association recognises the impairment for such financial assets by taking 
into account the original terms as if the terms have not been renegotiated so that the loss events 
that have occurred are duly considered.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual right to receipt of cash flows expires or 
the asset is transferred to another party, whereby the entity no longer has any significant 
continuing involvement in the risks and benefits associated with the asset. Financial liabilities are 
derecognised where the related obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. The difference 
between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party 
and the fair value of consideration paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities 
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss. 

(f) Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the association assesses whether there is any indication that 
an asset may be impaired. The assessment will consider both external and internal sources of 
information. If such an indication exists, an impairment test is carried out on the asset by 
comparing the recoverable amount of that asset, being the higher of the asset's fair value less 
costs to sell and its value-in-use, to the asset's carrying amount. Any excess of the asset's carrying 
amount over its recoverable amount is immediately recognised in profit or loss. 

Where the future economic benefits of the asset are not primarily dependent upon the asset's 
ability to generate net cash inflows and when the entity would, if deprived of the asset, replace its 
remaining future economic benefits, value in use is determined as the depreciated replacement 
cost of an asset where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, 
the association estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset 
belongs.
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Murray and Mallee Local Government Association

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Note 2: Revenue 2018 2017
$ $

MBM LGA Contributions
Berri Barmera 20,860                  20,451                  
Coorong District Council 13,816                  13,545                  
DC of Karoonda East Murray 7,315                    7,172                    
DC of Loxton Waikerie 22,080                  21,506                  
Mid Murray Council 16,525                  16,201                  
The Rural City of Murray Bridge 18,557                  27,091                  
DC of Renmark Paringa 27,633                  18,194                  
Southern Mallee DC 8,669                    8,501                    
SLRP surcharge 23,210                  19,733                  

158,665                152,394

Other Grants & Contributions
Other Grants 3,450                    -                        
Rubble Royalties 164,291                -                        
Regional Capacity Buildings 39,777                  -                        
Local Government Association of SA -                        274,185                
Out Reach Program Income 50,000                  50,000                  

257,518                324,185                

Interest Revenue 4,689                    2,904                    

Total Revenue 420,872                479,483                
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Murray Mallee Local Government Association

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Note 3: Other Operating Expenses 2018 2017
$ $

Allowances 3,000                       -                        
Accounting software 276                          498                        
Audit fees 3,300                       3,500                     
Consultancy and contractors -                           867                        
Executive officer contract services 115,520                    109,545                 
Insurance 7,208                       5,697                     
LGA capacity building grant -                           2,395                     
Meeting expenses 2,221                       1,424                     
Murraylands regional collaboration project -                           3,240                     
President's travelling allowance 649                          1,950                     
SAROC regional meeting costs 1,115                       (836)                      
Sundry expenses 1,200                       6,088                     
SLRP Priority Setting 14,099                     -                        
Administration Support 10,680                     -                        
Project Expenditure:
2030 Transport Plan Project - Roads Database -                           11,700                   
Discretionary Projects 18,700                     -                        
Strategic ICT Projects 15,000                     -                        
Commodity Route Assessment 16,960                     13,400                   
Hills Road/Rail Bypass -                           5,000                     
Murray River Alliance Projects 11,022                     10,000                   
Regional Freight Movement Study 29,735                     50,284                   
Regional Waste Strategy 2,500                       15,000                   
Sport and Recreation Facilities Needs Review 23,909                     15,940                   

277,094                    255,693                 

Note 4: Cash and cash equivalents 2018 2017
$ $

Cash on hand 100                          100                        
Cash at bank 279,473                    275,294                 
LGFA Investment 156,119                    151,430                 

435,692                    426,824                 

Note 5: Trade and other receivables 2018 2017
$ $

Trade Debtors 140,408                    -                        
GST receivable (net) 8,298                       11,729                   

148,706                    11,729                   

Note 6: Trade and other Payables 2018 2017
$ $

Payables 14,384                     -                        
Accruals -                           12,318                   

14,384                     12,318                   
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Murray and Mallee Local Government Association

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Note 7: Accumulated Surplus 2018 2017
$ $

Opening Balance 426,236                278,666            
Surplus for the year 143,778                223,790            

570,014                502,456            
Net transfers (to)/from reserves:

Unspent funds reserve 76,220                  (76,220)             

Net transfers (to)/from accumulated surplus: (76,220)                 -                    

Net Transfers (to)/from reserves -                        (76,220)             
Balance at year end 570,014                426,236            

Note : reserves no longer used in relation to unspent funds as a result of change in accounting treatment.

Note 8: Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with surplus for year

2018 2017
$ $

Net surplus for the year 143,778                223,790            
Changes in assets and liabilities
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (136,977)               (8,090)               
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 2,067                    (942)                  

8,868                    214,757            
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Murray and Mallee Local Government Association 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Note 9: Financial Instruments

Categorisation of Financial instruments

Carrying Amount Fair Value Carrying Amount Fair Value
$ $ $ $

6 14,384                 14,384      12,318                  12,318     
14,384                 14,384      12,318                  12,318     

4 435,692               435,692    426,824                426,824  
435,692              435,692    426,824                426,824  

I. Credit Risk

There is no collateral held by the association securing trade and other receivables.

ii. Liquidity Risk

No assets have been pledged as security for any liabilities.

Credit risk is managed through maintaining procedures to regularly monitor the financial stability of 
customers and counterparties and by investing surplus funds in financial institutions that maintain a high 
credit rating.

Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the association might accounting difficulty in 
settling its debts or otherwise meeting its obligations related to financial liabilities. The 
association manages this risk by preparing and monitoring budgets, only investing surplus cash 
with major financial institutions and proactively monitoring the recovery of unpaid debts.

Receivable and payable amounts disclosed exclude amounts relating to statutory receivables and payables.

The fair values disclosed in the table above have been base don cash and cash equivalents, trade and other 
receivables and trade and other payables short term instruments in a nature whose carrying value is equal 
to fair value.

Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential non-performance by 
counterparties of contract obligation that could lead to a financial loss to the association.

Cash and cash equivalents
Total Financial Assets

Financial liabilities

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted including the criteria for the recognition, 
the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised with respect to each 
class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in Note 1 Summary of 
Significant Account Policies.

Trade and other Payables
Total Financial liabilities

2018 2017

Note

Financial Assets
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Murray and Mallee Local Government Association 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

iii. Market Risk

% 
Weighted 
Average 
Interest 

rate Carrying Value

% 
Weighted 
Average 
Interest 

rate Carrying Value

$ $ $ $
Trade and other Payables 0% 14,384                 0% 12,318                  
Financial Assets
Cash at bank 0% 279,473               0% 275,294                
LGFA Investment 1.8% 156,119               1.8% 151,430                
Cash on hand 0% 100                      0% 100                        

Exposure to interest rate risk arises on financial liabilities recognised at the end of the reporting 
period whereby a future change in interest rates will affect future cash flows.

Note 10: Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

At 30 June 2018, the association is unaware of any liability, contingent or otherwise, which has 
not already been recorded elsewhere in this financial report. 

Note 11: Capital Commitments

At 30 June 2018, the association is unaware of any capital or leasing commitments which have 
not already been recorded elsewhere in this financial report. 

Note 12: Events after the end of the reporting period

Since the reporting date, there have been no events that would materially impact on the 
contents of this report. 

Note 13: Economic Dependence

Murray and Mallee Local Government Association is dependent on the Local Councils within its 
jurisdiction and other funding bodies for the majority of its revenue used to operate the 
business. At the date of this report, the Committee believe that the Local Councils and other 
bodies will continue to fund the Association. 

Note 14: Related Party Transactions

The total remuneration paid to key management personnel of Murray & Mallee Local 
Government Association Incorporated during the year was as follows:
                                                                                                                       2018
                                                                                                                           $
                Executive Officer Contract Services                                      115,520

Key management personnel include the CEO and President.

Other related parties includes close family members of key management personnel and entities 
that are controlled or jointly controlled by those key management personnel individually or 
collectively with their close family members.  There were no transactions with other related 
parties.

Note 15: Capital Management

The Committee controls the capital of the entity to ensure that adequate cash flows are 
generated to fund its programs and that returns from investments are maximised within 
tolerable risk parameters. The Committee ensures that the overall risk management strategy is 
in line with this objective. The committee operates under policies approved by the board. Risk 
management policies are approved and reviewed by the board on a regular basis. These include 
credit risk policies and future cash flow requirements. The entity's capital consists of financial 
liabilities, supported by financial assets. There have been no changes to the strategy adopted by 
the Committee to control the capital of the entity since the previous year. 

Note 16: Association details 

The registered office of the association and principal place of business is; 

Murray and Mallee Local Government Association
PO Box 236 
Victor Harbor SA 5211

2018

Financial liabilities

The following table illustrates sensitives to the association's exposure to changes in interest 
rates.

2017
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Murray and Mallee Local Government Association 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Note 10: Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

At 30 June 2018, the association is unaware of any liability, contingent or otherwise, which has 
not already been recorded elsewhere in this financial report. 

Note 11: Capital Commitments

At 30 June 2018, the association is unaware of any capital or leasing commitments which have 
not already been recorded elsewhere in this financial report. 

Note 12: Events after the end of the reporting period

Since the reporting date, there have been no events that would materially impact on the 
contents of this report. 

Note 13: Economic Dependence

Murray and Mallee Local Government Association is dependent on the Local Councils within its 
jurisdiction and other funding bodies for the majority of its revenue used to operate the 
business. At the date of this report, the Committee believe that the Local Councils and other 
bodies will continue to fund the Association. 

Note 14: Related Party Transactions

The total remuneration paid to key management personnel of Murray & Mallee Local 
Government Association Incorporated during the year was as follows:
                                                                                                                       2018
                                                                                                                           $
                Executive Officer Contract Services                                      115,520

Key management personnel include the CEO and President.

Other related parties includes close family members of key management personnel and entities 
that are controlled or jointly controlled by those key management personnel individually or 
collectively with their close family members.  There were no transactions with other related 
parties.

Note 15: Capital Management

The Committee controls the capital of the entity to ensure that adequate cash flows are 
generated to fund its programs and that returns from investments are maximised within 
tolerable risk parameters. The Committee ensures that the overall risk management strategy is 
in line with this objective. The committee operates under policies approved by the board. Risk 
management policies are approved and reviewed by the board on a regular basis. These include 
credit risk policies and future cash flow requirements. The entity's capital consists of financial 
liabilities, supported by financial assets. There have been no changes to the strategy adopted by 
the Committee to control the capital of the entity since the previous year. 

Note 16: Association details 

The registered office of the association and principal place of business is; 

Murray and Mallee Local Government Association
PO Box 236 
Victor Harbor SA 5211
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1.

2.

Name: Name: 
Position: 
Date: Date: 

Position: 

Presents a true and fair view of the financial position of Murray and Mallee Local Government 
Association  as at 30 June 2018 and its performance for the year ended on that date in 
accordance with Accounting Standards and other mandatory professional reporting 
requirements.

At the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that Murray and Mallee 
Local Government Association will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due. 

In the opinion of the committee, the Financial Statements comprising of the Statement of Financial 
Performance, Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Changes in Members' Funds, Statement of Cash 
Flows and Notes to the Financial Statements:

The Committee is responsible for the reliability, accuracy and completeness of the accounting records and the 
disclosure of all material and relevant information. 

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Committee and is signed for and on behalf of the 
Committee by:
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INTRODUCTION 

 
Community Passenger Networks (CPN) are located across South Australia and are a pivotal point of many 
communities to enable people to access other services and facilities that they are not able to access within their 
own towns. The Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme (MMCTS) is part of this Network as the Murray 
Mallee CPN and provides direct transport services for eligible community members living within the Council districts 
of Coorong, Southern Mallee and Karoonda East Murray. 
MMCTS is also a booking location for the Murray-Mallee Medical bus. This service is for eligible community 
members living within the Coorong, Southern Mallee, Karoonda East Murray, Tatiara and Rural City of Murray 
Bridge Council areas. 
MMCTS has been in operation for 21 years, has seen and undergone many changes within the region during this 
time however still manage to maintain a direct transport service to the community utilising accredited volunteer 
drivers.  

 
 
 
 
 

AIM OF THE COMMUNITY PASSENGER NETWORK 
 

The aim of the Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme is to promote efficient use of resources in the region 
by encouraging and coordinating shared use of existing resources and the integration of community transport 
services with conventional transport.  
 
To provide a resource to enable the community to make better use of existing passenger transport services within 
the region. 
 
MMCTS endeavour to assist people living within the service area who are transport disadvantaged to access 
services, facilities and social activities that enable them to participate to a greater degree in the life of their 
community. 
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Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme 
Chairman’s Annual Report 

2017 – 2018 
 

It is with pleasure I present my Annual Chairman’s Report. 

Our Service Agreement is currently Between Murray Mallee Community 

Transport Scheme Management Board and the Department for Human 

Services (DHS) and the agreement funding is until 30 June 2020. 

Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme (MMCTS) also receives funding 

from the following areas 

 Commonwealth Home Support Programme – CHSP 

 Coorong District Council, District Council of Karoonda East Murray and Southern Mallee District 
Council 

 Department of Planning, Transport, Infrastructure – Public Transport Operations and Planning 
(DPTI – PTOP) 

 Client fee contributions based on transport destination 
 

On behalf of Board Members I would like to thank all the financial supporters of MMCTS as without 

this support the Scheme could no operate. 

Some achievements or activities during the past 12 months have been 

 Annual Report sent to the three (3) constituent Councils, the Minister and DPTI – PTOP 

 Budget and Business Plans sent to the constituent Councils 

 Staff attended community events including Karoonda Farm Fair 

 Staff attended Local Government Risk Services Training, Disaster Readiness Training and Mental 
Health Training 

 Back window signage was added to the two (2) MMCTS owned vehicles in February 2018 

 Active participation in a DHS Review in March 2018 

 On 7 October 2017 a Volunteer Appreciation Luncheon was held at Old Tailem Town Pioneer 
Village at Tailem Bend for all the volunteer drivers from our far flung areas. Thankyou was 
extended to those drivers who were retiring as without their time and dedication as volunteer 
drivers the Scheme would not have operated so successfully. 

 

Presently we have 19 volunteers, comprising 16 active drivers, one (1) volunteer and two (2) volunteer 

companions. The home location the volunteers are Lameroo, Pinnaroo, Tailem Bend, Geranium, 

Murray Bridge, and Meningie. The volunteers spent 886.25 hours driving some 40,742 km. 

Client trips increased slightly over last year to be 445 one way trips. Vehicle trips increased slightly to 

236 trips. There were 87 enquiries and 55 new clients. 

During the past year we farewelled our Administration Officer – Annyse McFee and in January 2018 

Robyn Mayfield took over from Annyse. Helen Luke has been a very competent, polite and respected  
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employee of MMCTS. On behalf of the Board I would like to thank the three (3) employees for their 

services towards MMCTS. 

A big thankyou to the current Board Members, who have worked tirelessly over these past 12 months 

for the betterment of MMCTS.  

I have been a Board Members for over 20 years, since the inception of MMCTS. It is a Section 43 

regional subsidiary of the three (3) Councils which is being wound up by the 3 Councils. The Board is 

looking at transitioning away from Council control to a different service provider who will be able to 

provide a more cost efficient and enhanced service delivery. 

 

Regards 

Neville Pfeiffer 

Chairman 

Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme Board 
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Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme 
Regional Coordinator Annual Report 2017 - 2018 

 
It is with quite mixed emotions that I present the Murray Mallee Community Transport 
Scheme (MMCTS) Regional Coordinator Annual Report for 2017 – 2018 particularly given 
the very uncertain space that the organisation is currently experiencing. 
 
The past 12 months have been particularly challenging and very demanding in many ways. In 

early October 2017 MMCTS Administration Officer, Annyse McFee resigned from her role to take up a position in 
retail which was closer to her home location enabling her to spend more time with family. MMCTS recruited for 
another Administration Officer and in January 2018, Robyn Mayfield was appointed to the position. 
 
The introduction of My Aged Care (MAC) a couple of years ago and the recent roll-out of the National Disability 
Insurance Scheme (NDIS) has certainly played a significant role in the world of transport in regards to current 
eligibility and where people have been able to access suitable transport from within their area.  
 
Transport disadvantaged people living in the Council areas of Coorong, Southern Mallee and Karoonda East 
Murray rely on the vital service that MMCTS has provided to them over the past 21 years. Transport assistance has 
been provided for basic necessities of shopping & banking, attending events and to access vital medical 
appointments that they were unable to access in their local area. 
 
The process of My Aged Care has been quite frustrating for many of our older clients, however most have been 
quite positive about receiving an in home assessment as they have been able to have other areas of need 
identified within their homes to help enhance their quality of life which in turn has enabled them to live more 
independently for longer within their own homes. Over the past 12 months MMCTS have received 29 new MAC 
referrals for transport with many more waiting to receive a follow up assessment. 
 
MMCTS have been involved in community events where possible as well as 
attending and actively participating in meetings, forums, training and liaison 
with local and regional service providers and commercial operators. 
The following is a brief summary of some of the events attended during 2017 
– 2018: 
   
   2017 

 Supporting Resilient Worker Forum – 5 June 
 Delivery of new fleet vehicle – 29 June                                                 
 CPN Coordinators visitation to new RAH – 21 August 
 Fire Extinguisher Training – 24 August  
 Volunteer Appreciation Luncheon at Old Tailem Town– 7 October  
 Visitation to Uni SA for video viewing – 23 October 

 
      2018 

 MMCTS logo vehicle window signage – 14 February 
 Department Communities and Social Inclusion Review – 22 March    
 Karoonda Farm Fair –  6 & 7 April 
 Keeping Connected Workshop – 24 April 
 Emergency Management Workshop – 1 May 
 Local Government Risk Services Training – 7 June 
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The community is very fortunate to have a small team of 
professional and very dedicated volunteers who freely give 
their time to their volunteer role within MMCTS.  Staff and 
the Management Board would like to extend a very 
heartfelt thank you to the team and wish them well for the 
year ahead. 
Over the past 12 months the volunteers have collectively 
traveled 40,572 kilometres while providing 880 voluntary 
hours. This is a mammoth effort for such a small team and 
there has been a slight increase in transport figures from 
the previous year. 
Recruitment and retention of volunteers is a never ending 
cycle, they are our most precious resource and are the base of operations. There remains a mix of accredited 
volunteer drivers, volunteers who are able to assist with taking cars in for servicing and accreditation or helping out 
at functions and volunteers who act as a travel companion if a person needs additional assistance.  
   
The following chart is a summary of kilometres traveled from 1st July 2017 – 30th June 2018 for all MMCTS owned 

& utilised vehicles on a quarterly basis.  
The figures recorded for the past 12 months are a little higher than the previous year. 

 

 
 
  
MMCTS owned vehicles are Toyota Aurions - Scheme One and Scheme Two which both now have the logo and 
phone number on the back window. Vehicles from Karoonda, Lameroo and Pinnaroo are utilise from Country 
Health Connect for clients living within those Council regions, providing a vehicle is available along with our 

accredited volunteer drivers. There is also an 
odd occasion that a volunteer will use their 
own vehicle for short trips usually within town 
limits to link people with public transport bus 
service.  
The vehicle resource that we have access to 
within the Southern Mallee and Karoonda 
East Murray districts is a highly valuable and 
precious resource. Trying to access 
resources from other service providers from 
within our direct service area unfortunately 
has not as yet come to fruition. 
Half of the client fees collected while using 
these vehicles is given back to the Mallee 
Health Service on an annual basis. 

 
 
 
 
 

8,500 9,000 9,500 10,000 10,500 11,000 11,500

July-Sept 17

Oct - Dec 17

Jan-Mar 18

April-June 18

Kms 1st July 2016 - 30th June 2017 per quarter 

Tailem 
Bend 7 

Murray 
Bridge 1 

Geranium 
1 

Lameroo 
8 

Pinnaroo 
4 

Meningie 

Number of volunteers 
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The table below is a summary of the total number of the kilometres traveled by each vehicle and volunteer hours 

over the past 12 months from 1st July 2017 to 30th June 2018 
 

Vehicle used Kilometres travelled Volunteer hours 

Scheme One 9,475 241.25 

Scheme Two 14,189 321 

Karoonda 1,443 28.75 

Lameroo 11,073 212.25 

Pinnaroo 4,099 75 

Volunteer Own 463 8 

TOTALS 40,742 886.25 

 
 
 
 
 

The summary to the right is a total of passenger 
trips that have been undertaken by clients per  
vehicle from 1st July 2017 - 30th June 2018.  
A return passenger trip is referred to as two (2) 
one way trips.  
Passenger trips are slightly up from the year 
before.  
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Coorong DC 

CPN Trips = 288   

Voluntary 
Hours =  395.75 

Kilometres 
Travelled = 

14,450 

DC Karoonda East 
Murray  

CPN Trips = 40 

Voluntary 
Hours = 100.75 

Kilometres 
Travelled = 

5,388  

Southern Mallee 
DC 

 CPN Trips = 117  

Voluntary 
Hours = 389.75 

Kilometres 
Travelled = 

20,904 

445 

Pinnaroo - 
23 

Volunteer 
Owned -9 

Scheme 
One - 166 

Scheme 
Two -  172 

Lameroo - 
66 

Karoonda - 
9 
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The current client data base has remained fairly steady over the past year sitting at around 500 active clients.  
The following information is a brief summary of what has been recorded over the past 12 months.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Reasons why people travelled over the past 12 months included: 
 Ad-hoc general medical/health appointments – GP, dentist, podiatry etc 
 Specialist appointments 
 Shopping 
 Banking 
 Attending community events or functions 
 Visiting friends 

 
The following is a snapshot of the average time to complete a task: 
 

Time to Complete a New Registration 30 – 45 minutes - depending on complex (health) need 

Time to Complete an Existing Client Update 20 – 30 minutes – depending on level of information recorded 

Time to Complete Each CPN Client Trip Request 15 – 45 minutes – allocate/source vehicle and driver – can 
take longer if appointment details need to be checked or if 
transport is more complex 

Completion of paperwork for CPN Client Trips 10 minutes 

Time to complete an information request/enquiry 5 – 15 minutes 

Time to Complete a Brokered Trip 10 – 15 minutes 

 
 
Up until the 30th June 2018 MMCTS have had a close working relationship with Mid Murray CPN - Murray Transport 
Connections (MTC) based at Mannum and Coorong Coaches. Maintaining a good working relationship with clear 
and concise communication between our services is vital in assisting us to provide an efficient and professional 
service for all of our clients. 
Clients from the Council regions of Coorong, Southern Mallee, Karoonda East Murray, Tatiara and Rural City of 
Murray Bridge may be eligible for transport on the Murray-Mallee Medical Bus.  The Contract for this service is 
specifically between Public Transport and the owner/operator of Coorong Coaches, Peter and Margaret Stone from 
Keith with the CPN being identified as a booking location. MMCTS have been coordinating bookings for 4 out of the 
5 Council regions for the past 18 years. As from the 1 July 2018 MMCTS will be providing the booking location for 
all 5 Council regions eligible to use the Medical Bus. 
This service is wheelchair accessible and travel is for medical appointments only, it operates Monday to Friday 
excluding public holidays and is contracted to run 48 weeks of the year. Carers or companions travel for free 
providing they are caring for someone at the time and do not have an appointment themselves on the same day 
and they must remain with the person.  
 

New Registrations = 55 

Existing Client Updates = 144 

Referrals to Commercial Operator = 16 

Referrals to another CPN = 27 

General Enquiries for information = 86 

Vehicle Transports (vehicle/driver) arranged and cancelled = 45 

CPN Trips (one way) arranged and cancelled = 79 
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Some of the roles and responsibilities of MMCTS staff have in relation to the Medical Bus include: 

- ascertaining client eligibility, complete a client registration & inform clients of MAC procedure 
- coordinate bookings and forward bookings to Coorong Coaches 
- coordinate and liaise with medical facilities – such as aligning appointments to Medical Bus time frames, 

seeking transport authorisation forms from hospitals when a person is being discharged or has had a 
surgical procedure to ensure the person is safe for transport and when necessary arrange alternate travel 
and accommodation options  

- track and record transgressions, late cancellations and “no-shows” & manage grievance process 
 

 
Reporting Medical Bus patronage has not normally been a 
requirement for MMCTS to complete as this reporting sits with 
the Provider, however MMCTS do record all transports. This 
information can also be used as a reference for internal 
reporting and ascertaining travel patterns 
 
Apart from the 445 CPN trips that were provided by a CPN 
volunteer driven vehicle, staff also coordinated another 835 
Brokered Trips to the Murray-Mallee Medical Bus which were 
completed.  
There were a further 147 Brokered Trips arranged but 
cancelled trips during the same time. 

Reasons people traveled on the Medical Bus included: 
 Ad-hoc general medical/health 
 Specialist appointments 
 Radiotherapy 
 Chemotherapy 
 Renal 
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I would like to take this opportunity to extend very sincere thanks to MMCTS Administration Officers Annyse McFee 
and Robyn Mayfield for their support, encouragement and providing frontline office management during some quite 
difficult times. Robyn has had a couple of challenging moments in the past 6 months while learning the role, she 
maintains professionalism and empathy towards clients, has a good report with volunteers and very sound work 
ethics. 
 
We are very fortunate to work alongside so many diverse organisations many of whom have become very familiar 
faces offering support, guidance, advice, encouragement or just a listening ear.  Without this networking we would 
not be able to continue to provide and deliver the services that are presently available.  
 
Robyn and I would like to extend a very sincere thank you to; 

o MMCTS volunteers 
o MMCTS Management Board Members 
o Clients of the Transport Scheme 
o CPN Coordinators 
o Country Health Connect  
o Coorong Coaches 
o Link SA 
o Department of Planning Transport and Infrastructure – Public Transport Operations and Planning 
o Department for Human Services 
o Tailem Bend Community Centre Coordinator, staff and volunteers 
o Staff of the District Council of Karoonda East Murray  
o Staff of the Southern Mallee District Council 
o Staff of Coorong District Council 

 
The Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme connects communities and the people living within those 
communities to vital appointments, events and also enables them to access some very basic needs while 
maintaining a certain amount of independence. 
This service has upheld and maintained a high level of professionalism during some very demanding and stressful 
times. We will endeavor to maintain our strength and further develop and grow within the community through the 
valuable connections that we have with current service providers and local organisations.  
 

Helen Luke                                                                                                                                  
CPN Regional Coordinator                                                                        
Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme 
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SERVICES BY LGA and TOWN 

Murray Mallee CPN -Vehicle Only Trips  
    

 
          

SOUTHERN MALLEE DC 
1 Way 
Trips 

Hours Pvte Km 
Business 

Km 
Total Km 

Town           

 
          

1 July 2017- 30 September 2017 

  
 

 
  

Lameroo  17 55.75   2943 2943 

Pinnaroo 2 4.75   192 192 

Parilla 2 6   418 418 

TOTALS 21 66.5   3553 3553 

            

1 October 2017- 31 December 
2017 

          

Lameroo 18 67.5   3268 3268 

Pinnaroo 9 26.25   1487 1487 

TOTALS 27 93.75   4755 4755 

            

1 January 2018-31 March 2018           

Lameroo 21 65.75   3893 3893 

Pinnaroo 10 25   1420 1420 

Parilla 6 28.5   1442 1442 

TOTALS 37 119.25   6755 6755 

            

1 April 2018- 30 June 2018           

Lameroo 17 55.25   2745 2745 

Pinnaroo 12 42   2411 2411 

Parilla 3 13   685 685 

TOTALS 32 110.25   5841 5841 

 

 

DC KAROONDA EAST MURRAY 1 Way Trips Hours 
Pvte 
Km 

Business 
Km 

Total Km 

Town           

 
          

1 July 2017- 30 September 2017 
  

 
 

  

Karoonda 6 13   685 685 

Wynarka 4 11.25   527 527 

TOTALS 10 24.25   1212 1212 

            

1 October 2017- 31 December 2017           

Karoonda 10 23.75   1373 1373 

Marama 2 8   392 392 

TOTALS 12 31.75   1765 1765 

            

1 January 2018-31 March 2018           

Karoonda 5 12.75   767 767 

Borrika 1 1.5   99 99 

Wynarka 2 6.75   348 348 

TOTALS 8 21   1214 1214 

            

1 April 2018- 30 June 2018           

Karoonda 10 23.75 44 1153 1197 

TOTALS 10 23.75 44 1153 1197 
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SERVICES BY LGA and TOWN 

 

Murray Mallee CPN -Vehicle Only Trips 
    

 
          

COORONG DC 1 Way Trips Hours Pvte Km 
Business 

Km 
Total Km 

Town           

 
          

1 July 2017- 30 September 2017 

  
 

 
  

Tailem Bend 102 123.25   3441 3441 

Coorong (Salt Creek) 1 1.25   105 105 

Meningie 9 18.25   1010 1010 

Narrung 2 7.75   370 370 

Coonalpyn 4 5.5   419 419 

TOTALS 118 156   5345 5345 

            

1 October 2017- 31 December 
2017 

          

Tailem Bend 50 64.75   1948 1948 

Coonalpyn 4 7.5   477 477 

Meningie 4 6   308 308 

TOTALS 58 81.25   2928 2928 

            

1 January 2018-31 March 2018           

Tailem Bend 51 66.25   2298 2298 

Meningie 6 12.25   730 730 

TOTALS 57 78.5   3136 3136 

            

1 April 2018- 30 June 2018           

Tailem Bend 51 69.75   2298 2298 

Narrung 4 10.25   743 743 

TOTALS 55 80   3041 3041 
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 RESOURCE CHART 

  
Organisation Relationship to CPN 

  

Commonwealth Home Support Program   External Funding 

  

Department for Human Services Contractual relationship, IT 
support and funding body 

  
 

Department of Planning, Transport and Infrastructure  
- Public Transport Operations and Planning 

Volunteer Accreditation Support, 
funding, Murray-Mallee Medical 
Bus Contract 

  

 
Coorong District Council 

Financial contribution, 
administration support 

  

Southern Mallee District Council Financial contribution 

  

District Council of Karoonda East Murray Financial contribution 

  

 
MMCTS Management Board 

Operationally oversee 
management of Murray Mallee 
CPN at a strategic level 

  
 

CPN Regional Coordinator 
Manage Murray Mallee CPN at an 
operation level 

  

 
Administration Officer 

Administration duties of Murray 
Mallee CPN & CPN Regional 
Coordinator support 

  

 
 
Volunteers 

Accredited volunteer drivers for 
client transport and assist CPN 
with vehicle movements and event 
attendance along with client 
support 

  

Link SA Brokerage services/Public 
Transport 

  
 

Coorong Coaches 
Murray-Mallee Medical Bus 
brokerage services 

  

Mallee Community Health Service – Country Health 
Connect 

Vehicle resource  

  
 

Clients 
Fee for service - fees assist with 
vehicle running costs 
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BOARDS AND COMMITTEES 
 

 

Staff of the Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme (MMCTS) has involvement with several groups or 

committees within the region either as a listed member of the group / committee or by providing an administrative 

role. These include – 

- MMCTS Management Board 

- Riverland Mallee Coorong Taskforce 

- CPN Regional Coordinator meetings/Conferences 

 

MMCTS staff has attended various community / organisational functions during the year along with the usual 

meetings. Some functions include the Karoonda Farm Fair & training days. 

 

 

 

Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme Management Board Members 

 

Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme (MMCTS) was originally established under Section 200 of the Local 

Government Act 1934 and continues as a Regional Subsidiary, Section 43 of the Local Government Act 1999. 

MMCTS operations is subject to the direction of the Management Board acting on behalf of Coorong District 

Council, Southern Mallee District Council and District Council of Karoonda East Murray (the Constituent Councils) 

MMCTS Management Board currently comprises interested members of the community, service providers and a 

representative from each of the Constituent Councils. 

The Management Board meets bi-monthly at Tailem Bend and the Annual General Meeting is usually held in 

September of each year. It was very disappointing not to be able to source a Disability representative over the past 

year. 

A copy of the Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme Regional Subsidiary Charter was published in SA 

Government Gazette on Thursday 13th September 2012 (pages 4411 – 4415) 

 www.governmentgazette.sa.gov.au  

 

 
Deputy Mayor Cr. Neville Pfeiffer – Chairperson 

          Representative Organisation 

Southern Mallee District Council  

Cr. John Wooldridge District Council of Karoonda East Murray 
Cr. Vern Leng Coorong District Council 

No Representative Disability  
Lianne Brewin Carers SA 

Brian Lloyd Client of the Transport Scheme 
Margie Arbon Health Provider  

Ian Qualmann Veterans 
Kylie Constant  Commercial Operator 

Peter Le Gallou – Vice Chairperson Volunteers 
Judy Thompson Senior Finance Officer Coorong District Council 

Helen Luke MMCTS Staff  
Annyse McFee – Robyn Mayfield MMCTS Staff – Board Secretary  

http://www.governmentgazette.sa.gov.au/
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MURRAYLANDS TRANSPORT ADVISORY COMMITTEE MEMBERS 

 

Members of the Murraylands Transport Advisory Committee moved the following motion on 
Monday 25th  September of 2017: 

 

    7.2 – Cr. Sakko moved “that it is the view of this Committee that the original Terms of  
             Reference no longer apply due to changes within Local and State Government. This  
             Committee also recognises that the area is now serviced adequately & appropriately by  
             the local CPN’s. Therefore it is the recommendation of this Committee that the  
             Murraylands Transport Advisory Committee is dissolved and that Member Council 
             consider this recommendation” 
             Seconded – Cr. Wright                                                                                                                             

 

 
Member Councils did agree to the above motion so therefore this Committee no longer exists. 
 
The Advisory Committee changed its title from Murray Mallee Transport Advisory Committee to Murraylands 
Advisory Committee in November 2015. 
 
PURPOSE 
 
The key purpose of the Committee, subject to suitable resources is to monitor and evaluate the passenger 
transport services established through the Murraylands. To achieve this, the key roles and responsibilities of the 
Transport Advisory Committee are to: 

 Advise DPTI-PTOP, DCSI and the Councils of Coorong, Southern Mallee, Karoonda East Murray, Mid 
Murray and Rural City of Murray Bridge within the area of the operation of passenger transport services in 
the Murraylands area with the emphasis on their responsiveness to community needs; and 

 Identify current and future issues impacting on the delivery of transport services and develop strategies to 
address these issues where possible; and 

 Have a collaborative association with adjoining Community Passenger Networks (referred to as CPN) to 
work to the benefit of the region; and  

 Awareness and advocacy of passenger transport services at a local government level. 
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MMCTS STAFF 

 

Administration Officer, Annyse McFee began work at MMCTS on Monday 3 November 
2014 and resigned from her role on Friday 27th October 2017 to take up a position in retail 
that was closer to her home location and would give her more time with family. Annyse’s 
very positive outlook and happy demeanour has been surely missed by many of our 
clients. She has changed jobs since leaving MMCTS however remains positive and 
happy. 

 

After Annyse’s unexpected departure MMCTS undertook the daunting task of advertising for a new Administration 
Officer. After searching through many applications and undertaking several interviews, Robyn Mayfield was 
appointed to the position on Tuesday 9th January 2018. Robyn has settled into the role exceptionally well, knows 
the area very well, takes initiative, works well under pressure and engages well with both clients and volunteers. 
Robyn has been an invaluable asset to me and to MMCTS.  

 
 
CPN Regional Coordinator, Helen Luke has been with the Transport Scheme for 13 years has a background in 
health, disability and aged care and is a volunteer of SA Ambulance Service (SAAS) with the Tailem Bend team. 
Helen is a Regional Educator with SAAS Clinical Education to assist with student training and education. Helen has 
two adult sons, has lived locally in the area for many years and has a sound understanding of the issues within the 
area that people face in regards limited transport within the region and is passionate about community.        

 

                                     
 

 
VOLUNTEER APPRECIATION LUNCHEON 

 
I thoroughly enjoy organising the Volunteer Appreciation Luncheon it is always such a privilege to recognise one of 
our most valuable resources. The luncheon is held on an annual basis, and is a way of recognising our volunteers 
to say “Thank-you” to the very dedicated and hardworking team of people who freely give their time to fill many 
hours of driving for our transport disadvantaged. It is also a chance for them to get together and network with one 
another in a social setting in a relaxed and casual atmosphere.  
They are an amazing team working quietly in their communities and without their continued efforts we would not be 
able to provide the services that we do.  
Unfortunately not everyone can attend due to sporting, work or family commitments however those that are able to 
make it have a great time catching up, sharing ideas and strengthening friendships. 
The 2017 luncheon was held at Old Tailem Town in Tailem Bend on 7th October. The volunteers shared a fantastic 
meal catered for by The Friends of the Hospital, great company, fantastic food and many stories told while 
reminiscing about yesteryear given the setting while walking around Old Tailem Town. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                         



  
  

 
Page  18 

 
  

MMCTS SERVICE AREA & EXISTING TRANSPORT 

There still remains minimal public transport options within the MMCTS 

service area of Coorong, Southern Mallee and Karoonda East Murray 

Council regions which is around 19,246 square kilometres in total.  

So therefore the Community Transport plays a vital role for community 

support, awareness and development. With the limited options available 

to the community, ensuring that the community have access to up to date 

information that is suitable to their individual needs is vital to their health, 

general well-being as well as social inclusiveness. The transport that 

does exist in the area is mainly Monday to Friday with little or no options 

available over the weekends, public holidays and during school holidays. 

 

Murray-Mallee Medical Bus 

Peter and Margaret Stone from Keith who own Stones Bus Service and 

Coorong Coaches currently operate the Murray-Mallee Medical bus. This 

is a dedicated medical service using a nine (9) seater wheelchair 

accessible bus from Keith to Adelaide each week day for 48 weeks of the year, excluding public holidays. This 

service usually closes for four (4) weeks over Christmas and New Year.  

The service is available to eligible people living within the Council areas of Tatiara, Coorong, Southern Mallee, 

Karoonda East Murray and Rural City of Murray Bridge. MMCTS are a booking agent for four (4) out of the five (5) 

Council areas. The eligibility criteria includes  

o unable to drive and  

o unable to access family or friends and  

o not able to access public transport due to a mobility issue 

Eligibility is assessed by MMCTS staff at the time of enquiry or each transport request as circumstances may have 

changed since the last transport. The service is door to door but for those clients who live outside of the main 

Medical Bus travel area MMCTS make arrangements to link these people in at a pre-arranged location via public 

transport, own transport, other Service Providers or a CPN owned or accessed vehicle with a volunteer driver. 

Depending on eligibility many of our clients are able to travel to a prearranged destination then transfer to the 

Medical Bus. This service plays an extremely valuable role for people living in regional areas. 

 

  

                               

 

                  Left - Murray-Mallee Medical Bus 
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Transport within Southern Mallee District Council 

Service Provider When  

Community 
Passenger 
Network (CPN) 

MMCTS may be able to provide assistance when a person is unable to drive themselves 
and has no family or friends to assist and there is no other transport available in the area. 
Fee for service and eligibility criteria applies which will be assessed at the time of booking 
transport. 
Phone – 8572 4288 
Website – www.murraymalleetransport.com.au 

Murray-Mallee 
Medical Bus 

Medical Bus – Coorong Coaches, 9 seater wheelchair accessibility operating 48 weeks of 
the year from Keith to Adelaide – fee for service and eligibility criteria applies and 
bookings are coordinated through MMCTS office. The bus does not travel through the 
Southern Mallee Council area, however clients are linked into this service through 
MMCTS volunteers, public transport or the person meeting at a pre-arranged location in 
consultation with MMCTS staff. 
Phone – 8572 4288 
Website – www.murraymalleetransport.com.au 

Link SA 
Public transport 

Murrayville to Murray Bridge – Monday → Friday  
      (all time tables change during school holidays) 
Karoonda to Berri via Lameroo & Pinnaroo – Thursday only 
Phone – 8532 2633 for bookings 
Website – www.linksa.com.au 

V- Line 
Speedlink 

Adelaide to Melbourne (change to train at Bendigo) – Daily via Mallee Hwy 
Melbourne (by train and change to bus at Bendigo) to Adelaide – Daily via Mallee Hwy 
Phone – 1800 800 007 for bookings 
Website – www.vline.com.au 

 

 

Transport within District Council of Karoonda East Murray 

Service Provider When  

Community 
Passenger 
Network (CPN) 

MMCTS may be able to provide assistance when a person is unable to drive themselves 
and has no family or friends to assist and there is no other transport available in the area. 
Fee for service and eligibility criteria applies and will be assessed at the time of booking 
transport. 
Phone – 8572 4288 
Website – www.murraymalleetransport.com.au 

Murray Mallee 
Medical Bus 

Medical Bus – Coorong Coaches, 9 seater wheelchair accessibility operating 48 weeks of 
the year from Keith to Adelaide – fee for service and eligibility criteria applies and 
bookings are coordinated through MMCTS office. The bus does not travel through the 
Karoonda East Murray Council area, however clients are linked into this service through 
MMCTS volunteers, public transport or people meeting at a pre-arranged location in 
consultation with MMCTS staff. 
Phone – 8572 4288 
Website – www.murraymalleetransport.com.au 

Link SA 
Public transport 

Karoonda to Murray Bridge via Tailem Bend – Friday only 
     (all time tables change during school holidays) 
Karoonda to Berri via Lameroo & Pinnaroo – Thursday only 
Phone – 8532 2633 for bookings 
Website – www.linksa.com.au 

 

 

http://www.linksa.com.au/
http://www.vline.com.au/
http://www.linksa.com.au/
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Transport within Coorong District Council 

Service Provider When  

Community 
Passenger 
Network (CPN) 

MMCTS may be able to provide assistance when a person is unable to drive themselves 
and has no family or friends to assist and there is no other transport available in the area. 
Fee for service and eligibility criteria applies and will be assessed at the time of 
requesting transport. 
Phone – 8572 4288 
Website – www.murraymalleetransport.com.au 

Murray Mallee 
Medical Bus 

Medical Bus – Coorong Coaches, 9 seater wheelchair accessibility operating 48 weeks of 
the year from Keith to Adelaide – fee for service and eligibility criteria applies and 
bookings are coordinated through MMCTS office. The bus travels along the main 
highways (Dukes & Princes) Clients are linked into this service through MMCTS 
volunteers, public transport or people meeting at a pre-arranged location in consultation 
with MMCTS staff. 
Phone – 8572 4288 
Website – www.murraymalleetransport.com.au 

Link SA 
Public transport 

Coonalpyn to Murray Bridge via Meningie & Wellington – Monday → Friday 
Culburra to Murray Bridge via Tailem Bend – Monday → Friday 
Murrayville to Murray Bridge via Mallee Highway – Monday → Friday 
Tintinara to Murray Bridge via Coonalpyn & Tailem Bend – Thursday only 
Karoonda to Murray Bridge via Tailem Bend – Friday only 
     (all time tables change during school holidays)  
Phone – 8532 2633 for bookings 
Website – www.linksa.com.au 

Link SA Tailem Bend – 
Heated Pool – Monday 
Day Centre – Tuesday and Wednesday 
Intra town shopping bus – Thursday 
Phone – 8532 2633 to check currency and to make booking 
Website – www.linksa.com.au 

Premier Stateliner Adelaide to Mt. Gambier  - Daily – via Coast – Princes Hwy 
Mt. Gambier to Adelaide – Daily – via Coast – Princes Hwy 
Adelaide to Mt. Gambier – Daily – inland – Dukes Hwy 
Mt. Gambier to Adelaide – Daily – inland – Dukes Hwy 
Phone – 8415 5555 - bookings           General Enquiries – (08) 8415 5500 - bookings 
Website – www.premierstateliner.com.au 

Firefly 
 

Adelaide to Melbourne (daylight) – Daily via Princes & Dukes Hwy 
Adelaide to Melbourne (overnight) – Daily via Princes & Dukes Hwy 
Phone – 1800 800 007 to make booking 
Website – www.fireflyexpress.com.au 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.linksa.com.au/
http://www.linksa.com.au/
http://www.premierstateliner.com.au/
http://www.fireflyexpress.com.au/
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LEGISLATION 

 

As part of on-going operations the Murray Mallee Community Transport Scheme adheres to, but is not limited to, 
the following legislation: 
 

 Disability Services Act 1993 

 Volunteers Protection Act (SA) 2001  

 Work Health and Safety Regulations 2012 (SA)  

 Equal Opportunity Act (SA) 1984 

 Fair Work Act 1994 

 Passenger Transport Act (SA) 1994 

 Passenger Transport Regulations (SA) 2009 

 Road Traffic Act (SA) 1961 

 State Records Act (SA) 1997 

 State Records Regulations (SA) 2013 

 Carer Recognition Act (Cwth) 2010 

 Carer Recognition Act (SA) 2005 

 Local Government Act 1999 

 Freedom of Information 1991 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://legislation.sa.gov.au/LZ/C/A/VOLUNTEERS%20PROTECTION%20ACT%202001.aspx
http://legislation.sa.gov.au/LZ/C/A/PASSENGER%20TRANSPORT%20ACT%201994.aspx
http://legislation.sa.gov.au/LZ/C/R/PASSENGER%20TRANSPORT%20REGULATIONS%202009.aspx
http://www.legislation.sa.gov.au/LZ/C/A/ROAD%20TRAFFIC%20ACT%201961.aspx
http://legislation.sa.gov.au/LZ/C/A/STATE%20RECORDS%20ACT%201997.aspx
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Attachment 

The following pages in the attachment relate to:  

 MMCTS Independent Auditors Report 2017-2018 

 MMCTS Audited Financials 2017-2018 
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Bentleys SA Audit Partnership 

Level 2 

139 Frome Street 

Adelaide  SA  5000 

GPO Box 939 

Adelaide  SA  5001 

ABN 43 877 091 903 

T +61 8 8372 7900 

F +61 8 8372 7999 

admin@adel.bentleys.com.au 

bentleys.com.au 

 

A member of Bentleys, a network of independent accounting firms located throughout Australia, New Zealand and China that trade as 
Bentleys. All members of the Bentleys Network are affiliated only and are separate legal entities and not in Partnership. Liability limited by a 
scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. A member of Kreston International. A global network of independent 
accounting firms. 

 

 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
TO THE MEMBERS OF THE MURRAY  
MALLEE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT SCHEME 

 

Qualified Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of the Murray Mallee Community Transport 
Scheme, which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2018, the statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies and the Certification of the Financial Statements. 

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion 
paragraph, the financial report gives a true and fair view of the financial position of the Murray Mallee 
Community Transport Scheme as of 30 June 2018, and of its financial performance and its cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Local 
Government Act 1999 and the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 2011. 

Basis for Qualified Opinion 

As is common for organisations of this type, it is not practicable for the scheme to maintain an 
effective system of internal control over receipts until their initial entry in the accounting records. 
Accordingly, our audit in relation to receipts was limited to the amounts recorded. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Report 

Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial report, which gives a true and fair view 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Local Government Act 1999 and the 
Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 2011, and for such internal control as the 
committee and management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of a financial report 
that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, management is responsible for assessing the entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the entity or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the entity’s financial reporting 
process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the entity's financial report in accordance with Australian 
Auditing Standards and to issue an auditor's report. However, because of the matters described in the 
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on the financial report.  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

We are independent of the entity in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

 
 
BENTLEYS SA AUDIT PARTNERSHIP 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DAVID PAPA 
PARTNER 
 
Dated at Adelaide this 25th day of September 2018 
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